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This issue of the Maryland Historical Magazine has been made pos-
sible through the generosity of T. Rowland Slingluff, Jr.

. .

E 105 BATTLE OF ANTIETAM. ARMY OF THE POTOMAC; GEN. GEO. B. MCCLELLAN,
COMM., SEPT. 17, 1862 . . .COPYRIGHTED 1888 BY KURZ & ALL1SON ART PUBLISH-
ERS, 76 & 78 WABASH AVE., CHICAGO, U.s.A. ** Lithograph, printed in colors.
44.7x63.2 cm. MdBE.

Lower Bridge southeast of Sharpsburg, one of the many arched limestone
bridges over Antietam Creek, was the site of the bloody conflict shown here.
After many stubborn attempts, General Burnside’s troops reached the west
bank of the creek to attack the Confederates who were on higher ground. The
scene stresses the conflict of battle, violent but oversimplified. There are vig-
nettes of carnage aplenty as the quiet Antietam winds off in the distance
toward the Potomac, having passed the three arches of the bridge known ever
since by the name of the general whose troops fought so gallantly to cross it.

Tilberg, Antietam, p. 40.



Black Republicans on the Baltimore
City Council, 1890-1931

SUZANNE ELLERY GREENE

DURING THE FOUR DECADES FOLLOWING 1890, siXx DIFFERENT BLACK REPUB-
licans were victorious in thirteen of eighteen elections and became the repre-
sentatives of their ward or district in the Baltimore City Council. These elec-
tions and the careers of the councilmen hold particular significance because
they occurred at the time which marked the lowest point in the numbers of
blacks holding elective office anywhere in the United States from the Civil
War to the present. The city of Baltimore was almost unique nationally in the
continuing presence of blacks in high public office. This fact is true for several
different reasons, involving primarily state laws and population distribution.

At the end of the Civil War, the vast majority of the country’s black popu-
lation lived in the former slave states. During and immediately following Re-
construction, when black citizens were enfranchised by United States consti-
tutional amendment, numerous black men were elected to local, state, and fed-
eral offices throughout the former Confederacy. Most of those men were
Republicans. As Reconstruction waned and the national Republican Party
turned its interest away from the post-Civil War South, Democrats gradually
reestablished control of state governments there. From 1890 to 1910, those
state governments passed a series of laws designed to disenfranchise most
Southern blacks and to assure political control by the white Democrats. Be-
cause the federal Constitution forbade disqualification based on race, those
states employed devices such as the literacy test, the poll tax, and the grand-
father clause to achieve their goal. Voters were required to pass a literacy test,
pay a poll tax, or both. Frequently, if a man’s grandfather had also voted, he
would be exempted from all requirements. Although some southern whites
lost their vote as a result of these laws, the people most affected were blacks.
The net result was that by 1910, only a few southern blacks retained the fran-
chise and, with the exception of a few small all-black towns, nowhere in large
enough numbers to elect their fellows to public office.

Blacks living in the North at the end of the Civil War were enfranchised by
the same constitutional process that gave southern black men the vote. In the
North, state governments did not act to remove that right and blacks con-
tinued to vote there throughout the twentieth century. Blacks generally did
not elect members of their own race to public office, however, either during Re-
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construction or during the early part of the twentieth century, because they
did not have a large enough population in any one area.

Thus, the border states of Maryland, Delaware, Kentucky, Tennessee and
Missouri were the only areas of the country where blacks both continued to
vote in significant numbers and had large enough populations to allow the
election of black public officials throughout the end of the nineteenth century
and the first several decades of the twentieth century.

In Maryland, where black men stood for election to federal as well as state
and local offices, their only victories came in varying city council contests. In
Baltimore, Annapolis, and Cambridge, blacks won seats from wards having
large black populations. Because of the paucity of black elected officials dur-
ing this period, the careers of these men bear particular significance.

This article will be limited to a study of the careers in the Baltimore City
Council of the six black men who time after time won nomination in the Repub-
lican primary and victory in the general election. Little has been written about
these six men. This article will focus upon their elections to the City Council,
the legislation they were concerned with, and the isues they addressed while
serving in that body.

The single most important fact about these men is that they held office
when they did. One or two black councilmen could never control the vote of the
entire City Council. The extent of their influence is difficult to assess because
often other black leaders and other Republican leaders and, sometimes, local
Democratic leaders supported the same legislation that the black Republican
councilmen did. What is significant is that these men continued to speak out
on matters of concern to the black community. They did this both when the
black vote was being sought actively and when segregation and racism were
openly supported by much of the white population. While never the only voice,
the councilmen were in positions of authority where they would be heard by
other political leaders in Baltimore. An account of the legislation they spon-
sored and the matters which concerned them indicates many of the issues that
were significant to the black community of Baltimore during this period.

The power and influence of these Republicans were greatest during the
earlier years of the period under study. The timing coincided with the national
Republican Party expressing most concern about blacks. Indeed, the local and
national status of black politicans appear to rise and fall together. Baltimore's
black Republicans always spoke out on such issues, but their legislative vic-
tories were uneven, and the decline of their influence in the Republican Party
nationally presaged the black switch to the Democrats of the New Deal.

The six black Republicans who served on the Baltimore City Council from
1890 to 1931 were: Harry Sythe Cummings, Dr. John Marcus Cargill, Hiram
Watty, William L. Fitzgerald, Warner T. McGuinn, and Walter S. Emerson.
The careers of these men fell into two periods, divided by 1917, the year of
American entry into World War 1. The remainder of this article will present,
within these two time periods, an account of the election of these men, a brief
biographical sketch of each, and their major activities within the City Council.
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In 1890, Harry Sythe Cummings became the first black elected official in
the state of Maryland. He had won the Republican nomination for the City
Council seat from Baltimore’s 11th Ward. Earlier that year, redistricting by
the state legislature had added two Negro districts to the already Republican
and partially black 11th Ward. For the first time, blacks made up the majority
of eligible voters in a City Council ward. Cummings recognized the opportu-
nity presented by this change in distribution of the ward’s population. He filed
in the Republican primary, defeated the major white contender, George W.
Brooks, and then went on to an election victory over Democratic nominee,
Joseph A. Gilliss.!

Cummings won reelection in 1891, but was defeated by five votes in the
following year by the white Democratic candidate. This occurred despite the
presence of a black majority on the registration lists. In 1893 and 1894, a
white Republican, James Doyle, won the City Council seat from the 11th
Ward. The 1895 mayoral contest, in which Republican Alcaeus Hooper was
the victor, increased voter participation in the election. Registration went up
and, in the 11th Ward, black registrants outnumbered whites, 2,737 to 2,142.
A black Republican candidate, Dr. John Marcus Cargill, who was one of the
prime movers in the founding of Provident Hospital and a friend of Cum-
mings, defeated the white Democrat. From this time until 1931, at least one
black candidate won a seat on the City Council in every election except those
of 1905 and 1923.% Dr. Cargill was returned to office in 1896 and then retired
from politics to concentrate on practicing medicine.? In 1897, Harry Cum-
mings, once again the Republican standard bearer, won reelection by an
almost two-to-one margin. The Council elected in November, 1897, was carried
over until the spring of 1899. Redistricting in 1899 put the largest group of
black voters in the 14th Ward. This was renumbered (without a change in
boundaries) as the 17th Ward in 1901. From 1899 through the 1905 election,
First Branch councilmen served two-year terms. Hiram Watty, a friend and
business associate of Cummings’, received the Republican nomination in the
14th and then the 17th Ward for each of those years and was elected to the
City Council until he was defeated in 1905 by seven votes by a white Demo-
crat, Oregon Milton Dennis. In 1907, Harry S. Cummings won the seat back
for the Republicans with a sound defeat of Mr. Dennis. From 1907 to the pres-
ent, the entire City Council has been elected for four-year terms. Cummings
was reelected in 1911 and 1915, and he served until his death in 1917.

All three of these men possessed strong qualifications for their offices.
They were educated and, by the time they were elected, possessed considerable
political savoir faire.

Harry Sythe Cummings grew up in Baltimore and attended the city’s pub-
lic schools.* His father, Henry, worked as a chef, a skilled craft. His mother,
the former Eliza Jane Davage, sometimes worked in domestic service. Grand-
parents on both sides had been slaves in Baltimore County. Harry Cummings
graduated from Lincoln University in Pennsylvania in 1886 and in 1889 be-
came one of the first two black students to receive a law degree from the Uni-
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versity of Maryland. He was admitted to the Baltimore Bar in the same year,
benefiting from an 1885 Maryland court decision that allowed blacks to try
cases in the state’s courts.®

John Marcus Cargill, born in Monticello, Georgia, and educated at Atlanta
University, began his career as a minister in the African Methodist Episcopal
Church. He preached in Georgia, then transferred to the Baltimore A.M.E.
Conference, receiving a church in Washington, D.C. While there, he studied
medicine at Howard University. His last church was Waters A.M.E. in Balti-
more. After preaching there, he gave up the ministry for practicing medicine
full-time. He served as one of approximately a dozen black physicians in Balti-
more in the 1890s and led the movement to build Provident Hospital, which
opened its doors in 1894. Cargill specialized in women's diseases and, after his
tenure of the City Council came to an end, he invented and patented several
medical preparations which were approved under the Pure Food and Drug Act
of 1906.°

Hiram Watty began his career as a teamster and rose through the ranks of
Republican Party patronage jobs which included the posts of inspector in the
Customs House, messenger to the Collector of the Port, and inspector in the
Baltimore office of the Treasury Department. He became a political manager
and an intimate of Harry Cummings. And he was active in national as well as
local Republican politics.’

These three men, along with other black leaders, faced a political crisis of
major importance to the black population of Baltimore and the entire state. On
three separate occasions, Democrats introduced amendments to the Maryland
constitution designed to disenfranchise blacks, but all three amendments were
rejected in constitutionally required state-wide referenda. This maintenance of
their franchise marked a major victory for black political leaders.

The crisis began in 1895 when Republican Lloyd Lowndes carried Balti-
more by over 11,000 votes and won the gubernatorial election, and when re-
form Republican Alcaeus Hooper became mayor of Baltimore. After this, the
Democrats’ campaigns became more racist and efforts to disenfranchise
blacks increased. In Baltimore City, for example, one of the displays carried in
a torch-lit parade was a transparency depicting a black teacher, in an inte-
grated classroom, flogging a white child.? In this year Dr. John Marcus Cargill
was first elected to the City Council, continuing to campaign in the face of un-
hidden Democratic appeals to racist sentiment.

After the Democrats regained their power state-wide they began to push a
series of laws designed to disenfranchise blacks and remove forever the possi-
bility of another Republican victory. In 1901, the party emblems were stricken
from the ballot and assistance for voters who were not physically handicapped
was prohibited. Since 47 percent of Maryland’s black voters were illiterate,
Democrats hoped to destroy their effectiveness.® The first test came in the Bal-
timore City Council election of 1901. Republicans opened schools in every pre-
cinct to teach recognition of the word ‘‘Republican.” Not only did Hiram
Watty carry the 17th Ward, but Republicans won eighteen of the twenty-four
First Branch seats and all four of the Second Branch seats up for election.!
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The Democratic-controlled state legislature then passed a series of laws to
inhibit black voter participation. In 1904, they removed all party labels from
the ballot.!? But that still did not prevent blacks from voting. Then, three sep-
arate disenfranchisement amendments were passed by the state legislature in
1904, 1908, and 1910.!2 They used the devices of literacy clauses, grandfather
clauses, and property requirements to reduce the number of black voters. All
three amendments were defeated in the required referendum by an interesting
combination of voters not present in such large numbers in most southern
states where blacks were disenfranchised. Working against the amendments
were: all blacks; most white Republicans; leaders of local reform movements,
both Republican and Democratic, who sought to keep power out of the hands
of the Democratic-controlled machine; and many immigrants and their lead-
ers, sometimes even those allied with the machine, who feared that literacy
tests and the grandfather clause would take away their political power as well
as that of blacks. This heterogeneous opposition was particularly strong in
Baltimore City. When other towns passed their own local disenfranchisement
laws (for example, Annapolis in 1908, making the reelection of the black city
councilman there impossible’®), Baltimore did not even attempt to do the
same. The quality and outspokenness and determination of men like Cum-
mings, Cargill, and Watty helped prevent such disenfranchisement.

Like all black leaders, these councilmen not only opposed the disenfran-
chisement laws but continued to push other matters of concern to blacks that
fell within the jurisdiction of the City Council. One area of primary concern
was education. At this time, the City Council had direct authority over the
opening of new schools, the enlarging of existing schools, and policies regard-
ing the faculties and administrators. Furthermore, it frequently made recom-
mendations concerning curriculum.

By the time of Harry Cummings’ election in 1890, Baltimore City sup-
ported colored elementary schools and a colored high school, later Frederick
Douglass High School, which was then an advanced section of Grammar
School #1. Most of the staffs were all white. Far less money was spent per
black pupil than per white pupil. When Cummings took office, one of his
assignments was to sit on the Committee on Education.!* He introduced legis-
lation for the purchase of additional land and the erection of additional build-
ings for the use of already existing colored elementary schools.'® Most impor-
tantly, he introduced on February 1, 1892, an ordinance, which was eventually
enacted into law, to empower the Board of Commissioners of the Public
Schools to establish a Manual Training School for Colored Youth.®* A white
vocational school already existed. These institutions were considered impor-
tant and useful innovations by progressive educators of the period.

When Dr. John Marcus Cargill took office in 1895, he was also appointed
to the Committee on Education.!” Like Cummings, he proposed legislation to
improve educational facilities and opportunities for blacks in Baltimore. In
February, 1896, he introduced an ordinance to recognize the Colored High
School as ““an institution separate and distinct from Grammar School #1 and
to create a faculty.”’*® This was done, opening the way for the development of a
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more advanced curriculum. Later he introduced an ordinance, also passed, to
change the name of the Colored Manual Training School to the Colored Poly-
technic Institute,’® thus giving it a standing more comparable to that of the
white institution. However, Cargill also met with several defeats in proposals
on education. When he utilized his councilmanic prerogative and appointed a
Negro youth to a scholarship for use at the Maryland Institute, the director
refused to accept the boy. Cargill took the case to court, but the Maryland
Court of Appeals ruled against him.? Cargill also nominated Reverend E.
Egleston, then pastor of the Grace Presbyterian Chuuch, to be the first black
member of the Board of School Commissioners. The other councilmen de-
murred, so Cargill withdrew the nomination.*

The most important piece of legislation on educational policies introduced
by Cargill was an ordinance that called for the replacing of white teachers in
the colored schools by black teachers. But fellow councilmen, including Repub-
licans, watered down this ordinance. The final version of the ordinance stipu-
lated that an entire faculty had to be replaced at one time. As white teachers
resigned, substitutes would be appointed until enough black teachers waited
on the qualified list and until enough vacancies occurred that the entire faculty
could become black at one time. The law also required that no more than one-
fifth of the new teachers hired in any one year be black. In addition, black
teachers faced a two-year residency requirement not applicable to whites.*
Weakened as it was, this ordinance meant that eventually black schools would
have black teachers and that black professionals would be hired in large num-
bers.

Cummings returned to the City Council in 1897 and, though he no longer
served on the Education Committee, he continued to introduce legislation in
this area. He put forward ordinances, passed in April, 1899, calling for the ap-
pointment of black teachers of art and music to serve the colored schools.?® He
introduced another ordinance, also successfully, opening a night school at the
Colored Polytechnic Institute, making its courses available to people with day-
time jobs.** Cummings’ next ordinance called for the appointment of a ‘‘com-
petent colored person’’ to serve as Directress of Sewing in the colored public
schools. This became law in March, 1899.? Cummings also authored the legis-
lation establishing a kindergarten course in all the public schools, both black
and white.? He was less successful in his endeavor to convince the Council to
erect a new building for the Colored High School. This was refused several
times.”

During the next legislative session, Hiram Watty introduced similar bills
for the appropriation of funds for the erection of ‘‘a suitable building for the
Colored High School,”” but he met with no more success than Cummings had
had.?® In other legislation sponsored by Watty, few innovations were made.
Several new colored grammar schools were built and a few additions aug-
mented already existing facilities, but no new policies were instituted. The
City Council, at the request of Democratic Mayor Thomas G. Hayes, did ap-
point its former member, Harry Cummings, to the Board of Managers of the
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House of Reformation and Instruction for Colored Youth,?” a post he contin-
ued to fill for many years.

After Cummings rejoined the Council in 1907 many of his actions became
defensive, though the School Board continued to make occasional improve-
ments in black educational institutions, such as the separation of the teachers’
training course from the regular high school curriculum.* For example, he was
the only councilman to vote against changing School #100 from a colored
school to a white school. The legislation had been proposed because the school
stood in a racially mixed neighborhood. The ordinance, after being passed by
both branches of the City Council, was vetoed by Democratic Mayor James H.
Preston who cited as his reasons the existence of several black churches in the
area and the need for education for blacks. Cummings was one of a number of
leaders who pressed for the veto.*

Another successful defensive action served to prevent one more form of
segregation of the city’s black teachers. Democratic Councilman Hoffman in-
troduced a resolution during the 1907-1908 session calling for the separation
by race of teachers attending lectures. In the future, he hoped, lecturers would
give a repeat performance for the Negro teachers at another time, so the audi-
ence would not be integrated. Cummings, who cited economics and educa-
tional considerations in his argument against the measure, was supported by
enough Democratic votes so that the bill was postponed indefinitely.*

In March, 1913, Cummings argued for his resolution forcing the School
Board to reconsider measures which it had announced that were designed to
eliminate the higher branches of learning at the Colored High School. The ad-
vanced subjects were retained.?® In defensive actions such as this, Cummings
was successful. His prestige and personal acquaintance with the other council-
men probably served him well here. Although his was not the only voice speak-
ing for the black community, his position on the Council gave him easy access
to the ears of his fellow legislators. Nevertheless, the Council consistently re-
fused to approve or fund Cummings’ main project—the erection of a new Col-
ored High School building.**

In areas other than suffrage and education, defensive tactics were also
necessary. The rights of Baltimore’s black citizens which had increased after
1870 were constantly threatened, especially during the period preceding World
War 1. The encroachments both imposed segregation and did away with some
already existing privileges and institutions. For example, in 1910, Democratic
Councilman Oregon Milton Dennis, whom Cummings had defeated in another
ward in 1907, introduced legislation to close the one public bath open to
blacks, saying it was not used. Cummings attacked the proposal not only in
the Council, but in public forums. He wrote in an article for the Baltimore
Afro-American newspaper.

Mr. Dennis advocates the closing of the bath and using smaller quarters in the
rear. If he would only look at the commissioner’s twelfth annual report, he will
find that 20,000 patrons advocated enlargements....Mr. Dennis, in his
aborted attempt to slander colored people, ignominiously fails.®
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Cummings clearly recognized Dennis’ implications as well as his intentions
and fought him on both levels. Public Bath #3 remained open.

Yet Cummings was unsuccessful in the most bitter and prolonged fight of
his career, and black leaders had to turn to the court system for redress. In
1910, 1911, and 1913, the City Council passed variations of a law requiring
segregation of Baltimore’s housing by block units. The ordinance introduced
by Samuel West in 1910 (F.B. #1166) forbade blacks to move into a block occu-
pied by a majority of white families and also forbade whites to move into a
block occupied by a majority of black families. It further specified that any ap-
plicant for a building permit must state whether the area was to be used by
Negroes or whites. The same law applied to public buildings such as schools
and churches. The penalty for failure to obey the law was $100 fine or a jail
sentence of from thirty days to twelve months or both. The law was introduced
as “An ordinance for preserving order, securing property values and pro-
moting the great interests and insuring the good government of Baltimore
City...." Despite strong protests by Cummings and other Republicans, the
ordinance passed both branches of the City Council, was approved by Mayor
J. Barry Mahool, and became law in December, 1910.%¢ The West law was de-
clared unconstitutional on February 4, 1911 by Judges Harlan and Duffy in
Criminal Court.* In the test case, Warner T. McGuinn, who was later elected
to the City Council, and J. Ashbie Hawkins defended a black man who had
fought back when a white mob attacked him for moving into their neighbor-
hood. The man was accused of wounding one of the boys throwing stones at his
house. He was acquitted on the basis of a man’s right to defend his home. The
West law, which limited the rights of ownership of property, was declared un-
constitutional.®

In the spring of 1911, both branches of the City Council passed new segre-
gation ordinances to replace the unenforceable one of the previous year. Sam-
uel West proposed two different ordinances in the First Branch. The second
West law of 1911 allowed the majority of property owners on a racially mixed
block to petition to have that block exempted from the ordinance.** This law
was stricken down by Judge Elliott in Criminal Court on April 24. The Mary-
land Court of Appeals concurred on October 7, 1913, in the case of Maryland v.
John H. Curry. These decisions were based on the unconstitutionality of limit-
ing an owner’s rights to use and dispose of his own property.*

In the midst of this controversy during the spring of 1911, Harry Cum-
mings won reelection to his City Council seat. He campaigned against all seg-
regation ordinances and took the offensive by demanding: more and better
schools for colored children; a new high school with modern scientific appli-
ances; and an end to discrimination in patronage jobs.* Like Cargill in 1895,
Cummings did not moderate his demands in the presence of strenuous opposi-
tion and blatant racism. In City Council sessions, he continued to speak force-
fully against the segregation ordinance saying,

This segregation Ordinance has had a hard time to get safely through this
Council and to stand the test of judicial determination before just and fair
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judges, of which our city can justly boast. The reason for it is, that the lawis a
bad law, and try as you will you can never find a right way to do a wrong
thing.*

Cummings did not succeed in convincing any Democrats, who formed a major-
ity of the City Council, to vote against the new laws, but he never let the issue
drop.

Several new laws to segregate housing were proposed in the fall of 1913 to
replace the previous ones.*® Upon passage of the final segregation law, Cum-
mings stated immediately that there would be another court test.* He did rec-
ommend that blacks obey the law until it was declared unconstitutional.*® Sev-
eral times he introduced ordinances to repeal the segregation laws, but these
got nowhere.*® The 1913 law came under the review of the Maryland Court of
Appeals where a decision was deferred pending the Supreme Court ruling in
the case of the Louisville, Kentucky, segregation law, Buchanan v. Warley.
The Supreme Court declared that law unconstitutional in November, 1917,
saying it ‘‘destroyed the right of the individual to acquire, enjoy, and dispose
of his property.”’+ The Maryland Court of Appeals then ruled that the decision
applied to the Baltimore law. Future Councilman McGuinn again participated
in the deliberations as he had in 1911.4

Throughout times of legal and social advances, such as the additions to
educational facilities available to black students, and times of setbacks, such
as the enactment of the housing segregation laws, other matters continued to
concern the black councilmen. A small portion of these represented matters
that affected the city’s population as a whole such as Cummings’ ordinance es-
tablishing kindergartens or an ordinance introduced in June, 1896, by J. Mar-
cus Cargill to regulate the sale of fish in Baltimore’s markets.* The vast ma-
jority of legislation introduced by Cummings, Cargill, and Watty dealt with
matters within the black community. Perusal of the City Council Journals
yields long lists of ordinances, almost invariably passed, on routine concerns
such as the paving and widening of streets, the installation of electric lights,
the granting of permission to open businesses such as theaters and gasoline
stations, and the addition of porches and garages to existing properties.
Slightly less routine matters of concern within the black community were also
treated as councilmanic prerogatives throughout the period. Examples would
include an ordinance introduced by Cargill in the 1895-1896 session to change
the wording of a city law so that Provident Hospital would be included in the
list of hospitals where charity cases could be sent®® and an ordinance intro-
duced by Cummings during the 1916-1917 session for the acquisition of land
on the southeast side of Biddle Alley for a park.*

In another area, generally considered to be councilmanic courtesy, city fa-
cilities were extended for the use of black groups in much the same manner as
they were for white groups. In 1907, Cummings introduced a resolution invit-
ing the National Negro Business League to hold its next annual convention in
Baltimore. This was done, and Booker T. Washington presided over some of
the meetings in August, 1908. While the group met, Druid Hill Avenue was il-
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luminated with special displays of lights, as was the custom during all large
conventions, and they enjoyed the use of the city iceboat, ‘‘F. C. Latrobe,”” for
a pleasure cruise.’? In 1909, the black Grand Order of Odd Fellows of the
U.S.A. held its annual meeting in Baltimore, and Cummings obtained for them
also the illumination of Druid Hill Avenue and a cruise on the iceboat.?® These
were repeated again when the Colored Knights of Pythias accepted Balti-
more’s invitation, initiated by Cummings, to hold its National Biennial En-
campment here in 1913.54 Local black groups as well as other national organi-
zations received similar amenities as a matter of course.

Less a matter of course, though greatly desired, was the distribution of
patronage positions to blacks. These came in limited numbers and were less
readily shared than was the use of the iceboat or the money to illuminate Druid
Hill Avenue or the passage of individual ordinances favoring black constitu-
ents. Although Cummings was still talking about getting a fair share of pat-
ronage jobs at least as late as his campaign of 1911, the biggest push followed
the Republican electoral sweep in 1895. The Baltimore Ledger, a local black-
owned newspaper, estimated that $200,000 in wages went into the black com-
munity as a result of Republican hiring practices. Republican Mayor Alcaeus
Hooper promised to hire blacks and to place them in positions where they
would come into contact with whites. Most of the jobs fell into the category of
menial labor, although one black man was hired as a clerk in the office of the
Register of Wills and Warner T. McGuinn was appointed clerk of the Balti-
more Liquor Board. The City hired Dr. George Wellington Bryant as its first
black superintendent of a sanitation district, but he was dismissed in 1897 and
convicted of fraud for engaging in such activities as charging fees for enrolling
job applicants and withholding part of his employees’ wages.?® It should be
noted that these were neither uncommon accusations nor unusual practices for
that period. When William Malster, another Republican, took over the mayor-
alty in 1897, he turned a deaf ear to Cummings’ requests for additional patron-
age jobs. Although a few blacks did occasionally receive political appoint-
ments, their chances declined both as the Republican Party grew less influen-
tial in Baltimore and as blacks became less important in the national Republi-
can Party.

The highest point attained in national politics by any of the six black Re-
publican councilmen clearly came in 1904 during Theodore Roosevelt’s cam-
paign for the presidency when he actively sought black support. Both Harry
Cummings and Hiram Watty, who then sat on the City Council, responded by
stumping the country, speaking in black districts, primarily in northern
states. In appreciation, Roosevelt invited Cummings, Watty, and Rev. Ernest
Lyon, the U.S. Minister to Liberia, to visit with him in the White House. This
visit received much attention in the nation’s black press and was also covered
by the Baltimore Sun.®® A few months earlier, Cummings had been singled out
when he was asked to give one of the seconding speeches for Roosevelt’s nomi-
nation at the National Republican convention held in Chicago in June, 1904.%”

The situation changed enormously four years later. When a Republican
Party rally was held in Baltimore in 1908 for Charles Evans Hughes, blacks
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who attended were directed to segregated galleries. Harry Cummings was in-
cluded among them. Those who refused to comply were forced to leave.*® This
decline in national stature of both individual men and black politicians in gen-
eral corresponded with the decline in their influence on the local level as well.

J. Marcus Cargill returned to medicine. Hiram Watty's absenteeism on
the City Council increased as the years passed.®® Several other black leaders
joined groups like the NAACP whose Baltimore branch was chartered in
1912.%° Cummings remained on the City Council until his death in 1917, and he
continued to fight for the larger issues. As it became apparent that the United
States was likely to enter World War I, Cummings wrote a letter to Maryland
Governor Emerson C. Harrington, urging that blacks be called upon to serve
in the army. He wrote:

Among our population there are more than 225,000 people of my race, among
these there are probably 50,000 available under proper circumstances for mili-
tary service. . ..

Personally, I feel that I cannot lay down my life in any greater service than in
the defense of my country and I know that thousands of men of my race feel
the same way . . . . Our black brothers fell at Carrizal last week—this was only
a repetition of history. Attucks fell on Boston Commons in the Revolutionary
War; Nick Biddle shed his blood during the Civil War. The gallant Tenth
saved Roosevelt’s life at San Juan Hill during the Spanish-American War,
and catching the spirit of the brave men of our race, we are willing and ready
to defend our State and Nation. We know but one country and one flag.®

Numerous blacks from Maryland did fight during World War I. But, like
the rest of the nation’s black soldiers, when they returned home they found
discrimination, financial troubles, and the continuing threat of decline in
status. One victory that was not threatened in Maryland was the retention of
the franchise by black citizens. Blacks continued to vote and, in Baltimore
City, actually increased their political domain through their growing popula-
tion and their ability to get out the vote.

When the vote for City Council in 1919 was over, black men held two seats
for the first time in Baltimore’s history. William L. Fitzgerald, victor in the all-
black Republican primary, defeated his white Democratic opponent by a mar-
gin of over two-to-one in the 17th Ward, taking the old seat of Harry Cum-
mings. By 1919, the 14th Ward also had a slight black majority. Warner T.
McGuinn defeated a white Republican in the primary and went on to claim an
eighteen-vote victory over the Democratic incumbent, Daniel C. Joseph.®

When the results of the next City Council election, in 1923, were tabu-
lated, no blacks won seats. In 1923, councilmen were elected for the first time
from the newly created districts. Baltimore, following a trend generally recom-
mended by progressive reformers, abolished its old system of small wards, re-
placing those with much larger districts, each of which was to choose three
councilmen. The new 4th District combined the old black wards, the 14th and
the 17th, with the 4th, 13th, 15th, and 16th Wards.®® Basically a Democratic
gerrymander, that particular combination was designed to lump all the
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Republic power into one district. Fitzgerald and McGuinn both ran for reelec-
tion but placed fourth and fifth behind two Democratic incumbents, Beverly
Smith and William Towers, from the old Second Branch. The only Republican
elected to the City Council did come from the 4th District. Daniel Ellison,
white and Jewish, received by far the highest number of votes.® Since white
Republican candidates won the majority vote in other contests in the 4th Dis-
trict, the only conclusion that can be drawn is that a number of white Republi-
cans chose to vote for white Democrats over black Republicans.*

In 1927, Republican mayoral candidate William Broening led a swing to
the G.O.P. All three Republican candidates won in the 4th District. Ellison
again gained the most votes, but two blacks, McGuinn and Walter S. Emerson
finished well ahead of all three Democrats.®® This election marked the last vic-
tory for black Republicans running for the Baltimore City Council.

This second triumvirate of black Republican councilmen consisted of two
lawyers and a regular party worker. Like Cummings, Cargill and Watty, they
brought with them both education and experience, and all held high positions
in the city’s black community.

Warner T. McGuinn grew up in Virginia, received his B.A. from Lincoln
University in 1884, and studied law first at Howard University before receiv-
ing his LL.B. from Yale Law School in 1887. While president of the Kent Club
at Yale, he struck up a friendship with a famed guest speaker, Mark Twain.
The black press made note of this for the rest of his life. McGuinn, a half-
brother of Reverend William Alexander, editor of the Afro-American, moved
to Baltimore around 1890. He joined with Harry Cummings in a law firm and
participated in local Republican Party affairs. His reward was an appointment
as clerk of the Board of Liquor License Commissioners following the Republi-
can sweep in 1895. Before his election to the City Council, he became known
for his successful efforts in persuading the courts to declare unconstitutional
the Baltimore segregation laws. He later became a leader in the Baltimore
branch of the NAACP.*" Clearly, McGuinn was a man who did not acquiesce to
the injustices of his day.

William L. Fitzgerald came to Baltimore from Tennessee. After receiving
his LL.B. from Howard Law School in 1898, he became the first black man to
pass Maryland’s newly instituted written bar exam. He specialized in real es-
tate law, ran a real estate business, and consciously set out to make homes and
investment properties on principal streets available to blacks. His groundwork
resulted in some of the earliest purchases by blacks of homes on Madison and
Druid Hill Avenues. Like McGuinn, he knew Harry Cummings and, in fact,
served as treasurer of a testimonial dinner held in honor of Cummings’ fiftieth
birthday in 1916. Fitzgerald was the only one of these councilmen to live
through the Depression. He switched his allegiance to the Democratic Party
and continued his interest and activity in politics until he died in 1961.%

Walter S. Emerson, the only native Baltimorean of the three, studied busi-
ness and law in the city and became active in Republican politics. In 1892, at
the age of nineteen, Emerson was elected secretary of the 7th Ward Republi-
can Club. He was elected three times to the Republican State Central Commit-



Black Republicans 215

tee. After his defeat for reelection to the City Council in 1931, he was ap-
pointed Deputy Collector of U.S. Internal Revenue.®

The activities of McGuinn, Fitzgerald and Emerson followed the basic pat-
tern of their prewar predecessors, but with several differences. The big battles
had been fought out and decided. The black franchise was retained and no
longer threatened, even by the Democratic Party. The housing segregation
laws had been successfully challenged in court. Blacks could move into new
areas of the city as their numbers increased. This movement took the direction
of northwest from center. Baltimoreans practiced segregation in education
and most places of amusement, although not in most vehicles of public trans-
portation.” The black community existed rather separately from the white
community. Thus the job that befell the black political representatives was
that of maintenance and extension of institutions within the black community.
In McGuinn'’s victory statement to the Afro-American, he said: “‘I shall do my
best in the City Council to fulfill every pledge that has been made during the
campaign, especially as regards the health and school conditions of the race.”’™

As McGuinn indicated, education continued to be a major concern to the
black leaders. During the early part of the 1919-1923 council session, the
opening of new colored schools and the continued push for a new facility for
the Colored High School, begun by Harry Cummings, absorbed much of
McGuinn’s and Fitzgerald’s energy. The City Council did continue to author-
ize the opening of new grammar schools generally at the behest of the black
councilmen, but the new high school was not approved.

The most important development in education began with the City Coun-
cil’s authorization of a large-scale study of the entire school system to be un-
dertaken by Dr. George D. Strayer of the Columbia University Teachers’ Col-
lege. McGuinn and Fitzgerald voted to authorize the expenditure of funds for
the Strayer report as did all the other Council members present.”? On Septem-
ber 25, 1920, the Board of School Commissioners officially engaged Dr.
Strayer to make his comprehensive survey and to recommend specific im-
provements. Strayer’s recommendations came in the following year, and many
were implemented with surprising speed.” One crucial change was the handing
over to the School Board control of its own budget. From 1921 on, the City
Council no longer participated in the authorization of new school building and
similar specific decisions. This fact makes it difficult to attribute future educa-
tional gains to the work of individual councilmen. The Strayer report did rec-
ommend goals that had been pushed by the black political leaders and within a
few years many of these had been achieved. These included the following: a
new building for the Colored High School, renamed the Frederick Douglass
High School in 1923, which opened in 1925 at Calhoun and Baker Streets; the
equalization of salaries for teachers in the black and white schools; and the ap-
pointment of a black supervisor for the colored schools who took up his post in
January, 1923.7*

McGuinn and Fitzgerald pushed several other innovations to benefit the
black community. For example, McGuinn introduced an ordinance during the
1920-1921 session for the erection of a public comfort station near the
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BALTIMORE’S PREDOMINANTLY BLACK WARDS

1890-1927
Registered voters Police census of eligible
Year Ward Candidates Vote by race voters, by race
1890° 11 *Harry S. Cummings (R) 1585 White 2073 White 2499
Joseph A. Gilliss (D) 1480 Col'd 1949 Col'd 2614
George W. Brooks (Ind) 407
1891° 11 *Harry S. Cummings (R) 1581 White 2224
Joseph A. Gilliss (D) 1548 Col’'d 2139
1892° 11 *George Craig (D) 2040 White 2229 White 2344
Harry S. Cummings (R) 2035 Col’d 2320 Col'd 2804
18934 11 George Craig (D) 1324 White 2292
*James Doyle (R} 1645 Col’d 2272
Otis E. Janney (Pro) 117
1894° 11 William W. Dix (D) 1432 White 1914 White 2545
*James Doyle (R} 1816 Col’d 2112 Col'd 2931
Daniel Henderson (Pro) 88
1895 11 *John Marcus Cargill (R) 2664 White 2142
Robert W. Beach (D) 1442 Col'd 2737
Otis E. Janney (Pro} 121
18968 11 *John Marcus Cargill (R} 3039 White 2054 White 2163
George Craig (D) 1411 Col’d 2852 Col'd 3079
David G. Rogers (Pro) 121
1897" 11 *Harry S. Cummings (R) 2675 White 1887
Aloysius Benzinger (D) 1358 Col’d 2759
Charles F. Feldhaus (Pro) 60
1899 14 *Hiram Watty (R) 2702 White 2729 White 3046
Andrew J. Barron (D) 1997 Col'd 2909 Col’'d 3219
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Joseph Grinsfelder (D) 7758 Repub. 23182
Joseph Sherbow (D) 7563 Dem. 28232
Beverly Smith (D) 7275

Notes to Chart
The names of black candidates are italicized. The victors are marked with an asterisk.

Elections to the First Branch of the Baltimore City Council held from 1890 to 1897 were held in the late fall with candidates taking office im-
mediately. The councilmen elected in November, 1897 remained in office until May, 1899. From then until 1907, First Branch councilmen were
elected every other spring for two year terms. From 1907 to the present, councilmen are elected for four year terms. In 1923, the wards were
replaced by districts, each of which represented a combination of six wards.

In 1899, the City was redistricted, with the largest number of black voters going into the 14th Ward. In 1901, the wards were renumbered, and
the 14th Ward became the 17th Ward.

Sun Almanac (Baltimore, 1891), pp. 40, 42, 53.

Sun Almanac (Baltimore, 1892), pp. 46, 52.

Sun Almanac (Baltimore, 1893), pp. 41, 52, 71.

Sun Almanac (Baltimore, 1894), pp. 52, 61.

Sun Almanac (Baltimore, 1895), pp. 55, 57, 76.

Sun Almanac (Baltimore, 1896), pp. 58, 70.

Sun Almanac (Baltimore, 1897), pp. 65, 72, 127.

Sun Almanac (Baltimore, 1898), pp. 54, 69.

Sun Almanac (Baltimore, 1900), pp. 60, 67, 69.

Sun Almanac (Baltimore, 1902), pp. 58, 67, 72.

Sun Almanac (Baltimore, 1904), pp. 48, 50, 92.

Sun Almanac (Baltimore, 1906), pp. 44, 58, 65.
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Maryland Almanac (Baltimore, 1917), pp. 177, 257.
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Lafayette Market.” Both Fitzgerald and McGuinn introduced ordinances per-
mitting the opening of vaudeville and movie theaters along Pennsylvania
Avenue and in other parts of their wards.” The two councilmen did have a fall-
ing out over Fitzgerald’s support for a theater to be built in McGuinn’s ward,
which McGuinn and many nearby residents opposed. The theater was to be
owned by a white man and located opposite the black Y.M.C.A. on Druid Hill
Avenue, a rather elite area. Theaters then were viewed by some as disrepu-
table. The Council passed the bill. Republican Mayor Broening vetoed it, but
the Council passed it over his veto.”

Several other recreational facilities for blacks were instituted by the city
during this period: a swimming pool was constructed in Druid Hill Park and a
Colored City Band was established to play concerts in black neighborhoods.
Although Mayor Broening listed these among his achievements, the black
councilmen clearly supported both measures.” Though such changes repre-
sented an acquiescence to segregation for the sake of increased resources and
jobs for the black community, there was little choice at the time. Schools, rec-
reational facilities, and cultural institutions all provided the additional benefit
of employment opportunities for blacks. Walter Emerson demonstrated con-
tinuing concern about employment when he introduced a resolution during the
1927-1928 session called for the hiring of black employees and teachers at the
Colored House of Reformation at Cheltenham. This resolution was adopted.™

Medical facilities were generally inadequate in black neighborhoods.
McGuinn and Fitzgerald both introduced ordinances for the establishment of
clinics and specialty hospitals (e.g., ear, nose, and eye) in their districts.® Such
ordinances always passed easily. They were considered a councilman’s prerog-
ative as were ordinances for adding home improvements like porches and
garages.

By virtue of their positions as leaders in Baltimore politics, McGuinn,
Fitzgerald, and Emerson received appointments to other positions on a state
and national level. Emerson, at the end of his City Council tenure, was given a
Republican patronage appointment of Deputy Collector of U.S. Internal Rev-
enue.? In 1917 Warner McGuinn was made a member of the Board of Manag-
ers of the Colored War Camp Commission Service.? This group helped blacks
to share in some of the benefits of military service. In 1920, McGuinn served
as a delegate to the Republican National Convention in Chicago. He supported
General Leonard Wood, an old friend of Theodore Roosevelt’s, for the nomina-
tion.*® McGuinn, of course, did not change the outcome of the convention, but
the fact that he attended and spoke his opinions is important.

William Fitzgerald attended the 1924 Republican National Convention,
and he was appointed by Democratic Governor Albert Ritchie to the Maryland
Interracial Commission when it was established in 1927.%* From this position,
to which he was reappointed several times, he was involved in the formation of
recommendations in all areas of life affecting Maryland’s blacks. In 1930, Fitz-
gerald transferred his allegiance to the Democratic Party and worked with the
Works Progress Administration during the New Deal.®
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The election of 1931 marked the end of a black Republican presence on the
Baltimore City Council. Although McGuinn and Emerson ran for reelection,
they were defeated in a Democratic sweep of the city, which reflected the na-
tion’s move toward the Democratic Party because of President Herbert
Hoover’s failure to abate the Depression as well as local power struggles. Al-
though many black voters gradually moved into the Democratic Party, their
numbers were not sufficient to regain a City Council seat until the 1955 elec-
tion victory of Walter Dixon, a black Democrat from the 4th District.
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Practicing Medicine at the
Baltimore Almshouse, 1828-1850

KATHERINE A. HARVEY

rI‘HE BALTIMORE ALMSHOUSE WAS ESTABLISHED IN 1773 TO CARE FOR THE
poor, and especially for those poor who were incapacitated by illness, old age,
physical handicap, mental deficiency, or insanity. To this end, the law pro-
vided that part of the money appropriated to maintain the poor should be used
to pay a doctor for his salary and medicines.' That the institution fulfilled its
purpose may be seen from the trustees’ estimate that the almshouse popula-
tion for the year ending April 30, 1826, had been made up of ‘‘one-fourth sick,
.. .and nearly a fourth aged and infirm, or maimed, and incapable of labor.”’?
Except during epidemics, when the city set up temporary hospitals to receive
persons stricken by yellow fever, cholera, typhoid, or typhus, the almshouse
infirmary was in fact the only refuge for those who could not afford private
medical care.

Between 1822 and 1866 that refuge was provided in a large stone and
brick building at Calverton, about two miles west of the city. The impressive
central block, originally a private dwelling, contained the trustees’ meeting
room, and quarters for the overseer and his family, the resident medical
students, and the apothecary. Two wings, added after purchase of the estate,
contained dormitories and hospital wards, including “an infirmary for the in-
digent sick,” a lying-in hospital, and a ‘“‘lunatic hospital.””?

The medical department of the almshouse was supervised by an ‘“‘attend-
ing physician” appointed by the trustees of the poor. By 1835 the doctor’s an-
nual salary had risen to $700, for the first time equalling that of the overseer.*
The trustees’ bylaws required the physician to go out from the city at least
once a day to make the rounds of the wards and advise the medical students.
Until 1835 literal compliance with this bylaw was not strictly enforced. In one
instance, for example, because of his illness the physician was away from the
institution for a period of two weeks.® The appointment for 1835 was made
with the understanding that the daily visits would be carried out,® and in 1837
the trustees further required:

Whenever the attending physician is unable from indisposition or any other
cause, daily to attend the House, he shall furnish a substitute of equal medical
reputation and experience to supply his place, and if prevented more than one
day at a time, he shall inform the Board thereof through the President by let-
ter, and stating the name of the individual he has selected.”

The author of several articles and books about Maryland’s history, Mrs. Harvey also edited The
Lonaconing Journals (Philadelphia, 1977).
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With the attending physician acting as mentor, a group of resident stu-
dents carried on the day-to-day care of the patients. The students were usually
graduates of medicine, who applied for appointment to the institution ‘“‘on ac-
count of the advantages which it affords for the completion of their medical
education.” In 1835 each of the six residents paid $225 per annum, which
covered the cost of board with the overseer’s family.® The trustees did not in-
sist on the medical degree, and occasionally appointed students who were still
attending the lectures at the University of Maryland medical school. However,
they did specify that ‘“No resident student shall be competent to act as Senior
Student while attending the medical lectures.”® This was an important provi-
sion of the bylaws, because the senior student was in charge of prescribing all
medicines.!® Students were expected to furnish their own transportation to the
lectures, and in at least one instance were permitted to keep a horse and car-
riage at the almshouse, paying $6 a month for the privilege.!' In most cases
resident students were appointed for a term of one year and could apply for
reappointment. A third-year resident did not have to pay board.!?

During the first ten years of the period under consideration, the trustees
appointed as attending physicians middle-aged men of varied experience and
education who were well established and respected in the Baltimore medical
community. Thomas H. Wright (birth date not known), attending physician
from 1828 to 1833, was a surgeon’s mate in the War of 1812, received an
honorary medical degree from the University of Maryland in 1819, and earned
an M.D. from the College of Physicians and Surgeons at New York in 1823. He
was considered ‘‘a physician of high local standing [and] an able practitioner.”
His published articles, based on his experiences at the almshouse, are a
valuable contribution to institutional practices of his era.!®

James H. Miller, Wright’s immediate successor {(1833-1837), was born in
Pennsylvania in 1788 and received his medical degree from the University of
Pennsylvania in 1810. In 1825 he moved to Baltimore, where he became one of
the founders of the Washington Medical College and professor of the practice
of medicine at that institution from 1827-1832. For part of the time that he
served at the almshouse, he was also professor of anatomy and physiology at
the medical college.!*

William W. Handy, who followed Miller and served for only one year,'® was
born on the Eastern Shore of Maryland in 1785 and received his medical
degree from Maryland Medical College in 1807. Like Miller, he was one of the
founders of Washington Medical College and there occupied the chair of
obstetrics and the diseases of women and children (1827-1842).¢

By 1838 it was obvious that one doctor, travelling to and from the alms-
house on horseback or by carriage, and then visiting from 100 to 200 patients,
would have little or no time for university teaching or private practice.!” It was
perhaps for this reason that the trustees decided to appoint two attending
physicians, who would divide equally the responsibilities and the salary —still
$700 a year. They named as ‘“Senior Attending Physician’’ Samuel Annan, a
Philadelphian born in 1797, who had received his medical degree at Edinburgh
in 1820 and had assisted at Guy’s and St. Thomas’ hospitals in London before
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returning to the United States. Prior to his appointment as almshouse physi-
cian, he had helped found the Washington Medical College and had been pro-
fessor of anatomy and physiology there from 1827 to 1834.%

Annan was appointed “in conjunction with Doct William Power,”*° a
former student who had taken his medical degree at the University of Mary-
land in 1835. Power, twenty-five years old, had recently returned from Paris,
where he had continued his medical studies.? He was the first of the alms-
house students to receive an appointment as attending physician.

The architecture of the almshouse dictated the division of hospital duties:
one doctor and half of the students formed a team which took care of patients
in the west, or female, wing; the other, with the remainder of the students, at-
tended to cases in the east, or male, wing. After six months on one service, the
teams changed places.?

Under the new arrangements, there need be no more climbing from cellar
to attic in one wing, and then descending to cross through the central building
and repeat the whole process on the other side. Physicians treating the men
would cover the second-floor hospital and surgical ward, and the basement
cells which housed the ‘‘more refractory class of maniacs’’ and intractable in-
ebriates. The women'’s doctors would visit the combined medical and surgical
hospitals, a separate hospital for free black women, the lying-in ward, and a
room for syphilitic patients—all on the second floor of the west wing. A
“chronic hospital for aged colored women’’ was set up in the attic. As in the
men’s department, the basement contained cells for the violent insane and for
alcoholics needing restraint.

By 1849 the infirmary had overflowed into two new buildings in the alms-
house yard. One of these, on two floors, contained medical and surgical wards
for free black males. The other, a four-story stone structure, provided more ac-
commodation for the insane—the ‘“new’’ cells, upper and lower; the children’s
room for newly-delivered mothers and their children, and for foundlings and
nurses; and a ‘‘chronic hospital’’ for aged white females.?

It should be noted that the almshouse admitted free blacks, many of
whom lived in Baltimore in extreme poverty. It was taken for granted that
white and colored would be kept apart, and much of the trustees’ early con-
struction program was devoted to achieving segregation, especially in the in-
firmary. Separate did not necessarily mean equal: in 1841, before the comple-
tion of the new building in the yard, the hospital for colored men occupied the
upper floor of the former coal house.?

The owners of slaves were not allowed to send them to the almshouse for
treatment at public expense. Even an application by one of the prominent
physicians of the city failed to gain consent for the admission of “‘a female
slave. . .subject to hysterical fits.”’?* Perhaps the trustees assumed that slave-
holders would be willing to pay the $3 weekly fee at the Baltimore Infirmary,
the hospital for the university medical school, which did admit slaves.?®

Between April 30, 1832, and December 31, 1841, the almshouse doctors
handled over 16,500 medical and surgical cases. The ailments diagnosed (more
than 350) ranged alphabetically from abortion to zona (shingles), and included
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most of the illnesses, injuries and imperfections of body and mind recognized
by nineteenth-century medical science.?® The student who wrote, on settling
in at the almshouse, “I shall probably see almost every variety of disease
which this climate & season present,” was sure to have his expectations real-
ized or surpassed.?” Even exotic diseases turned up at the infirmary in this sea-
port city with its thriving Caribbean trade. In 1834, for instance, cases of ele-
phantiasis, yaws, and leprosy were reported in the annual hospital summary.

However, there was nothing exotic about the general run of maladies,
which encompassed ‘“all the forms of inveterate disease, usually attendant on
a life of intemperance and profligacy.”’* Prominent among these were fevers,
catarrh, dysentery, pneumonia, phthisis, rheumatism, ophthalmia, skin dis-
eases, gonorrhea, syphilis, and drunkenness, politely termed ‘‘temulentia.”
Some of these diseases were considered seasonal. Dr. Annan observed that
ophthalmia began to appear in the women'’s and children’s wards early in May
‘‘when the change was making from winter to summer clothing,” and con-
tinued ‘‘until finally banished by the warm weather of June.”’? Other diseases
were not only seasonal, but also tended to originate in certain localities. Every
autumn, laborers on the railroads and canals being constructed near Balti-
more, and workers in the iron ore mines along the Philadelphia and Washing-
ton roads, came to the almshouse to be treated for malarial fevers.** In 1849,
out of “‘a little upward of 2000 cases of all diseases treated,” one-tenth (208) of
the patients suffered from the various forms of these fevers.*

As if these native ailments were not enough, Asiatic cholera swept over
western Europe and crossed the Atlantic in 1832. The death toll at the Balti-
more almshouse was 133.*2 A similar scourge claimed 86 victims in 1849.% In
1847 typhus was brought to Baltimore by immigrants aboard the ship Rio
Grande.** We have no record of the mortality at the almshouse during that
year, but we do know that the trustees requested an additional $5,000 to deal
with the large number of pauper immigrants.®® In the winter of 1850-51,
typhus, carried by a passenger on the ship Scotia, killed 22 almshouse inmates
and six of the nurses who attended them.®

Almshouse patients lacked the capacity to resist even common diseases,
and required protracted treatment. Some were worn down by abuse of “‘ardent
spirits,” some by exposure to extremes of weather, some by malnutrition.
Many of them came to the hospital only after they had been ill for some time
and their condition was considered ‘‘desperate.” Under these circumstances, it
is not surprising that one attending physician commented, ‘‘In medicine, as in
other things, it may happen that our success is not equal to our efforts.”’* The
writings of the doctors themselves testify to the unflagging zeal of those ef-
forts, as they bled, blistered, and prescribed medicines according to the gen-
erally accepted practices of their time.

Blood-letting was widely employed as a means of reducing fevers, calming
aracing pulse, easing breathing, or relieving congestion.*® It was accomplished
in three ways: by venesection, by cupping, or by the application of leeches.
Venesection, which involved opening a vein, was used for abstracting fairly
large amounts of blood—up to 22 or 24 ounces in some recorded almshcuse
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cases.” It was the custom at the Baltimore almshouse to give each student a
new lancet at the beginning of his residency, and there is ample evidence that
these instruments were diligently employed in the treatment of a great variety
of illnesses, either at the student’s own initiative or at the direction of the at-
tending physician.*

If, as was often the case at the almshouse, the patient’s condition was so
poor that venesection was inadvisable,* the physician resorted to cupping for
drawing smaller amounts of blood to relieve local inflammation. The operator
slashed the skin with a “‘scarificator’’ and then applied a heated cupping glass,
which in cooling sucked out the prescribed amount of blood from the ‘‘prin-
cipal seat of sensibility,” i.e., that part of the body which seemed to be the
center of distress. Thus cups were placed over the temples in cases of delirium
tremens, over the abdomen for ‘‘bilious fever'’ or dysentery, over the chest for
catarrh, over the stomach for gastritis, over the affected joint for rheumatism,
and so on.** Cupping glasses, which came in various sizes, were usually applied
in groups of four to eight.** The inventory for 1838 shows that the hospital had
two sets of cupping instruments.*

Leeches were a perfectly acceptable alternative to cupping, and their bites
were probably less painful than the cuts of the scarificator. Each of these little
creatures could absorb about a teaspoonful of blood before becoming sated and
dropping off its host. There was, however, some difficulty in getting leeches to
take hold, especially in cold weather, and in at least two instances at the alms-
house, their slothfulness led to their being abandoned in favor of cups.* When
the leeches were cooperative, they were employed to seemingly good effect. We
know that they were used in the lying-in ward, and in the treatment of rheuma-
tism and ophthalmia, and we have one account of a massive application of 40
leeches to the abdomen of a post-operative patient.® It is a rather interesting
sidelight that imported English leeches were considered best, but the alms-
house trustees permitted their use only “in what are regarded as extreme
cases.”’ Consequently, in 1838 we find Dr. Annan and his colleagues making do
with the American variety ‘‘got out of a neighboring brook.’’*

If blood was not to be drawn, it could at least be lured away from an in-
flamed and congested joint or organ by applying a blister to the skin in the
neighborhood of the affected part. Blistering plasters were compounded of
various irritating substances mixed with lard and resins and spread on cloth.
The most common agent was the Spanish fly (cantharides), but vesicles could
also be produced by mustard, turpentine, and pitch from the Norway spruce.
Once formed, the blisters were opened and kept open and irritated to allow a
continuous discharge of fluid. The salutary effect of this practice was thought
to depend on diverting circulation from the affected organs and directing it to
the blistered surface.*®

The prescription book kept for the first ten months of 1848 (see note 21)
shows that the two attending physicians and the eight resident students at the
almshouse ordered three applications of leeches, 13 venesections, 67 cuppings,
and 220 blisterings. In addition, they wrote almost 4,300 prescriptions for
medicines. An apothecary, who was a full-time member of the resident staff,
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presided over an array of animal, vegetable, and mineral products which he
dispensed as directed. From the plant world the 1848 prescription book calls
for common materials like chamomile, peppermint, burdock, horseradish,
wormwood, nightshade, goosefoot, wintergreen, snakeroot, foxglove, boneset,
oak bark and galls, gentian, hops, henbane, juniper, lobelia, wild marjoram,
parsley, rhubarb, bloodroot, Jimson weed, dandelion, slippery elm, valerian,
and white hellebore. Many items were obtained from abroad: gum Arabic from
Egypt; aloes, asafoetida, camphor, and cardamom from the East Indies;
flowers of Benjamin from Sumatra; buchu from southern Africa; cascarilla
from the Bahamas; copaiba, jalap, cinchona bark, and the balsams of Tolu and
of Peru from South America; gamboge from Siam and Ceylon; licorice root
from southern Europe; guaiacum and quassia from the West Indies; krameria
from Java; manna from Sicily; myrrh from Arabia; and scammony from Syria.

Medicinal contributions from the animal world were fewer: lard and whale
oil (spermaceti) for ointments; ox bile; musk; spider webs;* cantharides (the
pulverized beetles used internally as well as in blisters); egg yolks; and cod-
liver oil.

In the realm of inorganic materials, almshouse physicians relied most
heavily on preparations of mercury and of antimony. The prescriptions do,
however, specify many other chemical substances, among them alum, chalk,
cream of tartar, copper sulphate, lunar caustic, Epsom salts, sugar of lead,
arsenic, bicarbonate of soda, sulphur, salts of iron, zinec, potassium, and
sodium, and prussic, hydrochloric, nitric, and sulphuric acids.

The apothecary’s stock was designed to treat the whole man. From it he
could prepare washes, liniments, and both caustic and soothing ointments. He
could put together materials to be gargled or to be injected as enemas or
douches. Liquids to be taken by mouth might take the form of infusions, mix-
tures, tinctures, solutions, elixirs, extracts, draughts, decoctions, or syrups.
The apothecary rolled his own pills and mixed his own powders. Some of these
medicines were indeed disagreeable, but the almshouse doctors made no con-
cession to taste. Gelatin capsules had been invented, but are not once men-
tioned in the prescription book.

Between 1833 and 1841, the trustees spent a little over $750 a year for
““medicines.’’*® This amount did not include expenditures for such pharmaceu-
tical materials as flaxseed, hops, charcoal, red oak bark, logwood, and all of the
spices which were used medicinally. Because all supplies were purchased for
the establishment as a whole, and there are no separate accounts for the
hospital, it would be difficult, if not impossible, to determine accurately the
total amount spent for patient care, including diet. We know that all wines and
ardent spirits were bought solely for hospital use. We can identify many of the
articles ‘‘ordered by the attending physician as ‘hospital stores’ for use of the
sick’’:** wooden legs, spectacles, ‘‘gloves for maniacs,” trusses, syringes,
catheters, medicine mugs, cotton balls, and linen rags (for making lint). But
there is no record, for example, of the amounts of food allotted to almshouse
and hospital kitchens, respectively.
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The attending physicians tried to keep costs down by refraining from
ordering expensive drugs and confining themselves to the most necessary
medicines.?? The trustees tightened control over the medical department by
limiting the requisition power to the senior physician, and by asking him to ap-
pear at board meetings to justify his proposed spending. They also appointed
a committee to look into the cost of medical supplies.®® For the most part, the
board seems to have been ready to allow any reasonable outlay, in 1834 even
permitting the purchase of ‘‘Philosophical Apparatus to enable us to make &
record meteorological observations,”” since these might have a bearing on the
state of health at the almshouse.®

Attempts to economize apparently did not extend to the food and drink
which the doctors considered necessary to restore the health of those under
their care. The 1848 prescription book shows that the almshouse physicians
wrote 1,550 orders for diet, ranging from barley water and beef tea to broiled
mutton, and including fish, chicken, vegetables, and a good deal of rice, corn-
meal mush, and molasses. Daily allowances of six to eight ounces of wine or a
bottle of porter for some debilitated patients were not uncommon. However,
the maximum purchase of wine recorded in the minutes was only 93 gallons in
1840.% The diet of the various hospitals was ‘“wholly at the discretion of the
medical attendants,”” who may also have suggested the types of food to be pro-
vided for the rest of the inmates.*® Certainly during the cholera epidemic of
1849, the regulation of diet for the entire almshouse population was pus in the
hands of the physicians.’” Foods which were coarse and difficult to digest were
thought to favor the development of cholera. Hence, during this emergency,
boiled cabbage and soups heavy with vegetables, which had been *‘prominent
articles at dinner,” no longer appeared on the table. Working hands ate fresh
meat with rice, potatoes, and bread at their main meal of the day, and bread
with strong tea or coffee at breakfast and supper. The baker was ordered to
add to the bread, as an aid to digestion, ‘‘a quantity of sulphate of alumina,
sufficient to give to each adult, at every meal, about five grains.” And as a
final precaution, ‘‘every man without exception being accustomed to ex-
hilerating [sic] potations out of the house was allowed each day a wineglassfull
of whiskey. ...’”’*® In ordinary times ardent spirits were denied to all but the
very ill.

What may have seemed an undue emphasis on medical procedures, medi-
cations, and diet, serves to point out the relatively minor roles of surgery and
obstetrics at the almshouse during this period. The infirmary’s large surgical
ward, holding 60 to 80 beds, was devoted entirely to ‘‘the class of diseases and
injuries denominated surgical; wounds, fractures, [leg] ulcers, &c.”’*® Nursing
in all wards was done by men and women selected from among the inmates of
the institution. They were not paid, and often served reluctantly.®® To attend
to the special needs of patients in the surgical ward, the trustees provided for
the employment of an experienced dresser, a hospital assistant whose duty it
was to clean and dress wounds and ulcers, applying the remedies which the
physicians prescribed.®! These included a variety of washes, unguents, and
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poultices. Under normal circumstances, basilicon ointment with oil of turpen-
tine was the most common prescription for both ulcers and wounds, together
with Castile soap for cleansing. Poultices were made of flaxseed, carrots, hops,
yeast, or chopped rye, sometimes mixed or dusted with powdered charcoal or
cinchona bark. Sometimes the attendant painted a leg with iodine, or touched
a sore with silver nitrate. Venereal ulcers were treated with mercurial oint-
ments. %

The surgical ward was usually full, but, as one student put it, ““. . .the
cases there are not generally of a character to be very interesting or instruct-
ing & we are glad when the attending physician thinks an amputation neces-
sary.”’®® As it happens, the year in which the student wrote this is the only one
for which we have a listing of surgical operations at the almshouse. Between
May 1, 1834, and April 30, 1835, the attending and resident staff operated on
104 of the 2,571 patients admitted to the hospital. Only seven cases involved
anything as dramatic as amputation. Among the remainder, ten were for
removal of hemorrhoids, and ten for circumcision. Fifteen persons were tapped
for dropsy. Some small tumors and some bony excrescences were excised.
There were six operations for cataract, and one for harelip.*

In 1833 the supply of surgical instruments at the almshouse consisted of
one case of amputating instruments, one case of obstetrical instruments (pur-
chased for $15 in February of that year), incomplete sets of tooth and eye in-
struments, two scarificators, and miscellaneous equipment including
catheters, syringes, and a tourniquet.®® By 1835, thanks to the expenditure of
$220 over two years, the list had grown sufficiently to make possible the
operations detailed above. For example, the surgeon now had harelip forceps
at his disposal.®® The inventory of 1838 contains an interesting item: ‘‘1 set
acupuncturating instruments.’’®” There is, however, no record of any practice
of acupuncture at the Baltimore almshouse.

Surgery was performed without benefit of general anaesthesia. Informa-
tion about the use of ether and chloroform was not widely disseminated until
the late 1840s, and up to that time, all that a surgeon could do was to order a
“large anodyne’’ (usually laudanum) for his patient before operating.®® After
operating, he or the attending physician had to assure that his patient was
comfortable by prescribing the necessary narcotics. Following an amputation
at the almshouse in 1848, the doctor prescribed opium for a number of days to
be taken ‘‘at any time when great pain or restlessness comes on.”’ This patient,
a black woman, survived, was given a ‘‘flannel cap for amputated leg,” in
preparation for fitting a wooden or cork substitute for the missing limb, and
was discharged from the hospital two and a half months after the operation.®®

In comparison with the other departments of the hospital, the lying-in
ward did little business. In this time period, most babies were born at home.
During the nine and a half years for which we have statistics, fewer than 250
women were admitted to this ward, and some of this number came in after
abortions or miscarriages. Only 224 infants were delivered, and 25 of these
were still-born. Those women who did come to the hospital during these par-
ticular years ran a grave risk. Twenty-one of them contracted puerperal fever,



Practicing Medicine at the Baltimore Almshouse 231

and eight died of it. A few years later, in 1844 and 1845, there were so many
fatalities from this infection that the lying-in ward was closed for six months.™

The unfortunate women who developed ‘‘puerperal mania’’ were consigned
to the limbo of the violently insane in the basement cells, where they might re-
main for many months or even years.”! The ‘‘lunatic department’’ was an em-
barrassment to both medical staff and administration. In the absence of any
other public facility, the insane poor were sent to the almshouse, where they
constituted a body of ‘“‘nearly all the varied forms of mental disease crowded in
unclassified confusion.”””? In addition, the trustees accepted non-paupers
whose relatives or guardians were apparently charged on a basis of ability to
pay.” Those few insane persons who behaved quietly and did not try to run
away were employed on the farm or elsewhere in the establishment, or were
allowed to exercise in the small yard provided for their use in 1841.7 The
others, “furious, violent and ungovernable” or constantly trying to escape,
were kept locked up in their underground rooms, sometimes three or more in
each eight by ten foot cubicle. The most intractible were further restrained by
chains, hand and foot shackles, strait jackets, bed straps, and other devices.™
In 1840 the 26 cells had to accommodate not only 76 deranged inmates, but
also alcoholics and persons whom city and county authorities had committed
as vagrants. Under these conditions it was impossible to provide the ‘‘moral
treatment, and. . .intellectual discipline judiciously directed by capable and
devoted attendants’’ thought necessary to supplement ‘‘medicinal means’ in
curing mental illness.”® Nevertheless, of the roughly 350 patients reported in a
seven-year period, 36 were said to have been ‘‘cured’”’ and 70 to have been
“relieved.”’”

We know something of the medicinal means which the almshouse doctors
employed in treating insanity. Entries in the 1848 prescription book show that
they ordered cold shower baths, cups or blisters on the back of the neck, and
blisters covering the whole head. The book also indicates that they prescribed
purgatives, mercury, and narcotics for this class of patient, all in accordance
with the best ideas of treatment at that time.”® Naturally, they were responsi-
ble, too, for the physical well-being of their charges, and in 1848 (according to
the prescription book) treated them for intestinal parasites, ophthalmia, diar-
rhoea, dysentery, phthisis, rheumatism, and the side effects of mercury.

The cramped quarters for the insane were no more suitable for manage-
ment of the alcoholics, who made up about ten percent of the hospital cases.
The aim in both prolonged intoxication and delirium tremens was to produce
uninterrupted sleep, but patients on the way to becoming tranquil were too
often ‘‘aroused by the noise and tumult of a maniac within hearing.”’”® Opium
played a prominent part in the treatment, and the determination of the proper
dose was a problem which haunted the almshouse doctors after the sudden and
unexpected death of some of their alcoholic patients.® Still, as the prescription
book bears witness, in 1848 opium in some form or other was the chief agent
for inducing rest. It could take two weeks and a full course of purgatives,
emetics, cold showers, and opiates to cure delirium tremens. On the other
hand, a run-of-the-mill drunkard might be discharged in a day or two after a
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large dose of castor oil or Epsom salts and a pint of sedative tea infused from
hops.

Perhaps the most interesting development in this field was the change in
policy concerning the use of liquor in dealing with alcoholism. After experi-
ments which convinced him it was safe to do so, Dr. Wright, in charge of the
hospital from 1828 to 1833, excluded ‘‘spirituous drink of all kind”’ from his
plan of treatment, finding it neither necessary nor beneficial.®* His views
prevailed until 1839, when an equally dedicated physician, Alexander C. Rob-
inson, took issue with Wright’s assertion that liquor could safely be withheld,
pointing out recent deaths at the almshouse apparently caused by lack of
enough of the “‘accustomed stimulus” at least to support life. The controlled
use of ardent spirits therefore once again became accepted practice in treating
the results of alcohol abuse.?? One effect of this change was that purchases of
whiskey for the infirmary rose from 35%: gallons in 1839 to 98 gallons in
1840!% But by 1848, judging from the handful of cases for which they pre-
scribed brandy or whiskey for delirium tremens and temulentia, almshouse
physicians had returned to Wright’s way of thinking.

As the preceding brief tour of the infirmary suggests, the resident
students at the almshouse saw a large number of patients with a great variety
of diseases. They also had the benefit of the institution’s expanding medical
library, where they could consult standard authorities and keep up with new
developments reported in periodical literature.® In addition, as part of their
work in the ‘“dead house,” they were helping to build up a museum of ‘‘many
interesting and valuable specimens of anatomy.’’** One reason why almshouse
residencies were so highly prized was that they afforded unusual opportunities
for observing and participating in post-mortem examinations. Indeed, one stu-
dent wrote: “Being so constantly engaged in the study of special and practical
anatomy, I have not then attended to the other branches of medical science
more than occasion required & under these circumstances you will not be sur-
prised that I am anxious to prolong my stay at this place as long as I possibly
can.”’® Undoubtedly he knew that once in private practice, he would seldom
have a chance to perform an autopsy.*”

Almshouse students could anticipate from 50 to 100 deaths each year
from the ‘‘necessarily fatal’’ cases alone—those admitted for confirmed tuber-
culosis and those classed as ‘‘dead or dying when admitted.”’*® The total num-
bers of dead in each year between 1833 and 1842 ranged from 150 to 300.%°
Since it was the attending physician who decided whether a post-mortem ex-
amination should be conducted, we may assume that the number of such ex-
aminations approximated the number of those who died as ‘‘subject|s] of pub-
lic charity in this House.”’* For some reason, political or otherwise, deaths at
the almshouse were not included in the annual reports of the Baltimore Board
of Health.”

One cannot fail to be impressed by the seriousness of most of the medical
residents and their willingness to spend extra hours in learning from the living
as well as from the dead. The student who was constantly engaged in the dis-
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secting room was matched by the one who spent his spare time ‘‘wandering
from bed to bed, with stethoscope in hand,”” studying diseases of the heart and
lungs.®? Dr. Wright, who seemed to have a special rapport with his young asso-
ciates, praised them highly for their zeal, compassion, and professional respon-
sibility. There were inevitably a few whose conduct might raise eyebrows. In
1841 two students borrowed the institution’s horse and carriage, and drove so
fast that the horse was injured. In 1842 one of these same students was sus-
pended from practice at the almshouse for four weeks “for violating the rules
of the House,” and another student was similarly suspended for ‘‘improper
conduct.”” And finally, in 1848 the apothecary complained that Dr. X. had
“ordered %z drachm of opium and then burned up the prescription, so as to pre-
vent its being entered upon the medical journal of the house.”’®® Such incidents
were rare. A much more representative situation arose when resident students
at the almshouse contracted cholera in 1849, and former students volunteered
to fill their places.*

Perhaps nowhere is the dedication of the students more clearly demon-
strated than in the treatment of the ‘‘necessarily fatal’’ cases of phthisis (tu-
berculosis) noted throughout the prescription book. Reluctant to give up, the
medical staff bled, blistered, and cupped these patients, and plied them with
anodynes, cough remedies, and tonics to the very hour of death. They ordered
massage with heated whiskey, salt, and cantharides, and recommended fomen-
tations of brandy and cloves. And they were almost lavish in their suggestions
for diet— port wine, arrowroot, sago, milk, soup, broiled meat with potatoes,
coffee, chocolate—anything which would tempt a flagging appetite.

It was recognized that ‘‘public receptacles of the sick,” such as the alms-
house, afforded their medical officers opportunities for experiment which they
would not have enjoyed in private practice. For example, the first persons in
Baltimore to be vaccinated against smallpox were children at the almshouse,*
and it was publication of the results which led to the adoption of the cowpox
vaccine by the rest of the Baltimore medical community. In still another in-
stance, in 1848 when anaesthesia was a subject of “‘supreme interest,”” doctors
at the almshouse ordered ‘‘chloroform to be exhibited & [patient] kept under
its influence until the head can be shaved [in preparation for a blister].”’*® Fur-
thermore, as a committee of the Medical and Chirurgical Faculty of Maryland
commented apropos of the large number of cases of malarial fever at the alms-
house, ‘. . .what a field it presents for testing the comparative value of differ-
ent therapeutic agents.”’*” Almshouse doctors studied the effects of galvanism,
analyzed blood samples from patients with a variety of diseases, and intro-
duced new treatments for delirium tremens, fevers, and gout. One of them ex-
pressed the humanitarianism of the age in a plea for special hospitals for the
insane. Another came close to recognizing the deadly role of the surgeon who
went directly from the dissecting room to the operating theater.*

It is important to note that these physicians put in writing their ideas and
discoveries and the findings of their post-mortem examinations, and thus
made important contributions to the medical literature of the period. For them
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it was a golden age of publishing, in which they shared their experiences with
their colleagues throughout the United States and extended their preceptorial
role far beyond the almshouse walls.

Entering the almshouse infirmary did not mean abandoning hope. Eighty-
seven patients in every hundred could expect to survive their stay. In spite of
the numbers of hopelessly ill, over an eight and a half year period ending in
1841, out of 14,802 admissions only 1,849 (12.5 percent) died while in the hos-
pital.® In general, one must conclude that in the second quarter of the nine-
teenth century, persons who for economic reasons had to seek admission to the
Baltimore almshouse hospital would receive more expert and better-informed
treatment than they would get from many outside physicians. They were well
fed and well housed. Except for the insane and alcoholic, they were lodged in
clean, bright wards, whitewashed five or six times a year.!°® They were minis-
tered to by men who refused to allow themselves to become ‘‘idle spectators of
the triumph of disease.”’'** Only if they could have afforded the fees at the
Baltimore Infirmary, the university hospital, would these patients have been
attended to by doctors of comparable training and experience, but certainly
not of greater compassion and professional zeal.
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Liberal Education in the Gilded Age:
Baltimore and the Creation of the
Manual Training School

BAYLY ELLEN MARKS

ON MARcH 3, 1884 THE BALTIMORE MANUAL TRAINING SCHOOL OPENED 1TS
doors on the second floor of a building already leased by the School Commis-
sioners on Courtland Street between Lexington and Saratoga. It was the first
secondary technical or industrial school in the country which was entirely sup-
ported by public funds, and one of the pioneers of a movement to make educa-
tion relevant in an era of technological change.

Educators in Baltimore, as throughout the nation, felt the pressure of
rapid social and economic change in post-war America. Old standards seemed
less certain as urban, industrial America challenged the rural, individualistic
values of an earlier era. Americans traditionally looked to the schools to trans-
mit culture and democracy. As in the past, the school system responded to the
challenge of the new era, but the form of that response was the subject of a
lengthy debate between those who supported classical education and the pro-
ponents of practical studies. For ten years the Baltimore City School Commis-
sioners discussed the introduction of manual training into the public school
system. Their deliberations often reflected politics and the clash of personali-
ties, yet Baltimore’s experience was representative of public education’s re-
sponse to urban industrialism throughout the country.

The proponents of manual education traced its beginnings in the United
States from the display of the Moscow Imperial Technical School at the Cen-
tennial Exhibition in Philadelphia in 1876. Methods of tool instruction as a
basis for the understanding of technology had been introduced into the
Moscow school in 1868. From there the use of tool instruction spread to the
school of architecture at the University of Illinois, the Stevens Institute of
Technology in Hoboken, New Jersey, and the Washington University Poly-
technic School in St. Louis. But the Centennial popularized the idea of general-
ized manual training schools as opposed to technical colleges or trade schools
in the United States. Professional schools of applied science and technology
were not new, and had already gained acceptance. Trade schools promoted by
industry as an alternative to apprenticeship were in a developmental stage.
Yet manual training schools, although related to them, were quite different.
Educators desired to train the hand in the use of the tools of science and indus-
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try as the mind was trained in the tools of language and mathematics. This
would broaden ‘“‘the general education of the scholar, with reference to the
fuller and more symmetrical development of all his faculties and powers, and
to the promotion of his success in whatever sphere of labor it shall subse-
quently be determined he is to enter.””"

Supporters of manual education wanted it introduced on a par with
English, mathematics, and languages into all levels of the primary schools. In
actual practice, it was begun in secondary schools and its influence expanded
as it succeeded. The movement met with considerable opposition and was ac-
cused of being everything from undemocratic to communistic to unnecessary.
Many opponents feared basic courses would be neglected while schools pro-
duced skilled automatons who could not think. But by the end of the decade of
the 1880s most urban school systems had at least one manual high school and
were introducing manual courses into lower grades. In the interim definitions
of manual education were developed which were acceptable to conservative
and reform-minded Americans alike. A pioneer in the movement, Baltimore’s
Manual Training School served as a model for others.

Baltimore in the late 1870s experienced a period of economic expansion
which ended the war-induced recession of the 1860s. The city nearly doubled
its population between 1870 and 1880 and realized a six percent annual growth
rate in industry. Adding to their pre-war roles as economic links between north
and south, Baltimore businessmen expanded the western rail system to in-
crease the grain trade. At the same time Baltimore became a leader in Amer-
ica’s commerce with Europe. Immigration rose, and with it came tensions be-
tween native and immigrant, laborer and employer. In 1877, strikes and riots
ravaged the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad Company. The American worker, no
longer an independent craftsman, sought the protection of unions. The press
blamed the European immigrants for driving Americans from the skilled
crafts. Baltimore employers, while not supporting unionism, agreed on the un-
desirability of a largely foreign work force. The ideal solution was the creation
of a native born, trained labor pool whose pride in craft would prevent union-
ization. Industrialists saw such a pool as essential to future growth.?

Historically, crafts were learned through the apprenticeship system. By
the second half of the nineteenth century, however, apprenticeship no longer
enfficed to provide skilled craftsmen. The magnitude and rapidity of the
changing nature of industry had made many trades obsolete. Unions at-
tempted to restrict entrance into others. Also many young people remained in
school for a longer period than in the past. Educators in Baltimore and across
the country increased the number of years required for a primary education. If
Baltimoreans desired a young, educated, and skilled labor pool they would
have to turn to the school system.

In the 1870s and 1880s Baltimore’s schools were controlled by the Demo-
cratic Party machine of I. Freeman Rasin. Maintaining power by dispensing
civic contracts and civil service jobs to supporters, the machine financed cam-
paigns by exacting tribute from its beneficiaries. During most of the period
the mayor of Baltimore was Ferdinand Latrobe. The office was limited to two



240 MARYLAND HisTOR1CAL MAGAZINE

year terms and a mayor could not immediately succeed himself. Attempts by
both Republican and Independent Democratic reformers to defeat him or
other machine candidates were continually unsuccessful. A perennial cam-
paign issue was the divorce of the civil service from politics. Among those
positions subject to political control were seats on the Board of School Com-
missioners. Each of the city’s twenty wards had a representative on the Board,
nominated by that ward’s councilman and elected by the City Council as a
whole. The school board’s members were often machine politicians; much of its
high turnover in the 1870s and 1880s occurred as they resigned to move up-
ward to the City Council.

All professional employees of the school system were “‘elected” by the
School Commissioners. The superintendent and assistant superintendent
served four year terms, while teachers had their contracts reviewed annually.
Tenure did not exist and no one was safe from political pressure. Reformers
urged professional examinations and tenure, as well as altering the methods of
purchasing equipment; they gave low priority to changes in curricula. Never-
theless, until 1900 the Board of School Commissioners remained a political
body.?

Accompanying the graft and favoritism associated with urban machines
went low taxes on property and industry. Any change in the school system
which would raise taxes was vetoed. When the press promoted the popular
idea of free text books, for example, the School Commissioners refused to
yield. It is therefore surprising to find them promoting a costly experiment in
manual education in the 1880s. It is equally surprising to find the school
superintendent, a man known for his support of educational reforms such as
tenure, merit examinations and competitive bidding as well as longer school
terms and compulsory attendance, objecting strenuously to manual education.
The issue here was not reform versus reaction, but a disagreement among es-
sentially conservative men over what constituted the best form of education.

In 1870 Baltimore had three public high schools: Western Female, East-
ern Female, and City College, the latter an all male institution featuring a clas-
sical curriculum. City College had recently dropped a fifth year, and added sev-
eral business courses, but the school mainly emphasized the study of classical
languages as a preparation for the learned professions. Its enrollment was
small, restricted by examination, and traditionally elite. Such was its reputa-
tion that the recently founded Johns Hopkins University matriculated stu-
dents from City alone without entrance examination. City did not and could
not serve the needs of all who desired an education beyond grammar school
and did not have the means to attend private academies. The need for an alter-
native was particularly acute among those who did not wish to pursue the
classics.*

Baltimore had entered a scientific and technological age, yet there was no
recognition of this change in the school system. The State Superintendent of
Public Instruction, Alexander McFadden Newell, desired not only changes in
curricula but in educational philosophy. A former professor of natural sciences
at City, President of the State Normal School (now Towson State University),
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and Secretary of the State Board of Education, he saw the mission of the
schools as preparing all students for their roles in society. Through the Mary-
land School Journal, which he founded and edited from 1875 to 1880, Newell
ardently supported the introduction of scientific, industrial and technical
courses into the school systems of the state. He became in fact the apostle of
practical education for the masses. As state superintendent, however, he had
little power over the county superintendents, and none of them opposed
Newell’s proposals more than the Baltimore City superintendent, Henry Elliot
Shepherd.*

Throughout his term in office, Shepherd was the leading defender of classi-
cal education with its emphasis on the training of the mind and its belief in the
education of an intellectual elite. A North Carolinian, Shepherd came to Balti-
more in 1868 as professor of literature and history at City College. A scholar
by inclination, he followed the formation of the Johns Hopkins University
with interest, and in January, 1874 applied for the Professorship of English
Language and Literature. Young and ambitious, he had recently completed a
History of the English Language, which received considerable acclaim when
published in 1875. He continued to pursue the Hopkins post even after his un-
sought appointment to the four year term of Superintendent of Education for
Baltimore City. Writing to Daniel Coit Gilman, President of Johns Hopkins,
soon after his appointment, Shepherd commented: ‘‘In my new position. . .1
hope to accomplish something for the good of the Johns Hopkins University."’¢
This was to be an attempt to elevate the educational standards, first of City
College, and then of the entire system.

One of his first moves in that direction was to reinstate the fifth year at
City, which he claimed would rank its graduates with Ivy League juniors. An-
other was to introduce an English or modern language curriculum to parallel
the classical curriculum. Shepherd’s actions, however, met with much political
opposition when he attempted to elevate faculty standards through merit ex-
aminations and tenure. The School Commissioners had been satisfied with a
system of annual election of teachers by which they could control advance-
ment and removal. At odds with the school board, Shepherd continued to fight
for professional examinations and tenure. Subject to increasing frustration
and ‘“‘wearied out with a state of subjection to political vicissitudes and cap-
rices’’” he persisted in seeking a college appointment. His resignation as super-
intendent in 1882 was over the issue of graft and salaries, but his break with
the School Commissioners had been developing for a considerable period.®

Manual training certainly did not fit into Shepherd’s plan for elevating the
standards of the school system. He believed technical courses were outside the
scope of public education. They belonged in technical schools and had nothing
whatever to do with intellectual learning. Manual education represented much
of what Shepherd opposed in the materialistic attitudes of the age. As the
School Commissioners and Superintendent Newell pressed the issue, Shepherd
responded by defining his educational philosophy. The ensuing discussion ex-
panded beyond particular courses of study to become a debate on the role of
education in society.®
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Alexander Newell began that debate in 1877 when he discussed the “‘Les-
sons of the Centennial’’ in the Maryland School Journal. He defined the mis-
sion of the school as ‘‘preparing the young for usefulness.” Since few pursued
the learned professions, and many participated in commerce and industry,
“not only the interests of business, trade, commerce and the Mechanic Arts,
but the more important and more vital interests of society and the State itself,
demand that our system of public education be supplemented by a system of
industrial and technical schools.”’** This was the major theme of Baltimore’s
supporters of manual training.

Newell elaborated the theme before the National Education Association’s
annual convention in Louisville, Kentucky in August, 1877. In his inaugural
address as president of the association he condemned American public schools
for failing to produce better workers, thinkers and citizens. Pointing to the re-
cent railroad riots and the growth of unions, he inquired “‘are our public
schools doing all that we have a right to demand of them, to prepare the young
people who have to live by the labor of their hands to become intelligent, moral
and industrious citizens?’’ Noting that most children did not complete their
education through high school, and that many did not attend schools at all, he
rejected the panacea of compulsory attendance laws. Children would come to
school, and remain there longer only if they were taught interesting and rele-
vant courses. The curricula should be overhauled so that students would be
prepared to advance not only to the next grade, but to step out into the world.
Composition, drawing, literature and simple arithmetic ought to be stressed
above grammar, spelling by rote, and theoretical courses. New courses in polit-
ical economy and morals, introduced into elementary school, would form bet-
ter citizens. Most importantly, courses in industrial education, beneficial to
the majority of students, must be placed in the curricula on an equal basis with
traditional studies. Ignorant workers were poor craftsmen and poor citizens.
For the future stability and prosperity of the nation it was imperative that
schools assume responsibility in an area where parental guidance and appren-
ticeship were failing. If education in the past was an alternative to apprentice-
ship, in the future it had to become a substitute. The state must assume the
responsibility to educate the masses for the good of society. By introducing
manual courses the individual as well as the masses would be served, the state
rendered stable, and the schools would adapt to present needs in their historic
mission to create better citizens."

Coming at a time when the Baltimore schools were under intensive inter-
nal study, Newell's address suggested a remedy for poor attendance and a
high drop out rate. The Baltimore American, the leading anti-machine paper,
endorsed manual education, noting that girls already benefitted from sewing
courses in elementary school. Manual education would promote attendance,
aid discipline, and provide a means by which youth could learn the dignity of
labor.!? Most reaction in the press, however, was far from favorable. The Sun,
organ of the Democratic machine, called the introduction of trades into the
school system paternalistic and ‘‘foreign to the genius of our institutions.”!?
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The editors of the Evening Bulletin went further. Alluding darkly to the Paris
commune, they suggested ‘‘the man who has a right to his trade from the
State, has a right also to call upon the State to give him tools and materials for
his trade, and to see that he has wages,—in short, rank communism.’’ Sum-
moning the individualistic tradition, the Bulletin condemned state interfer-
ence in the lives of citizens as well as all forms of collectivism. The schools, in
taking over parental responsibility encouraged dependence on the state; in
promoting manual training society was underwriting its own destruction.

The claim that advocates of industrial education were also advocates of
communism or socialism (used interchangeably in the press) related to its
European origins. Swiss educator Robert Seidel saw industrialization leading
inevitably to socialism. Manual training was a means by which the state would
adjust to the new order and end the class struggle in a classless society. Many
European and a few American intellectuals advocated socialism as the only
logical economic system for a democracy. To American businessmen and
politicians such talk of social and economic change meant anarchy. They
feared well educated workmen would unionize, and to them unions were but
one step removed from the Paris commune. Thus, educators in America who
supported manual education emphasized the American traditions of individual
opportunity and social stability. They accused the existing school system of
being undemocratic by creating unequal opportunities in secondary education.
They argued that America was moving toward the type of class system which
fomented revolution. Such an eventuality could be avoided by a combination
of manual and academic courses which would promote the widest possible
future choices for the greatest number of citizens.'®

Along with the theme of democracy went the argument for social useful-
ness. Newell believed that only the introduction of industrial education could
preserve equality and the American way of life. The present system of educa-
tion discriminated in favor of those destined for college. By not serving the
needs of the majority destined for labor it stunted their futures. He charged
unionism with destroying the apprenticeship system, and this decreasing
private means of acquiring technical skills was not offset by a corresponding
increase in public means. Manual public education would fill the gap and pro-
mote equality. Moreover, by educating the whole child the school could also
shape his activities ‘“wisely,”’ protect him from poverty, and inculcate in him
the love of hard work. This would reduce crime, increase the wealth of the citi-
zenry and decrease the numbers of foreign workmen who filled industrial needs
in the absence of trained Americans. Manual training would, in short, cure
most social ills.®

By 1878 some members of the Board of School Commissioners probably
inclined toward Newell’s position. But Superintendent Shepherd saw in the
support for manual education among professional educators a dangerous mis-
conception of the mission of the school. In the pages of the Maryland School
Journal and in the Board of School Commissioner’s Reports he outlined his
position on industrial training. The true goal of education was the transmis-
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sion of culture, defined as that knowledge which frees the mind of man from
the mundane. The mission of the teacher was the perfection of the intellectual
being. The *‘fundamental truth that education deals directly with minds and
only indirectly with temporal vocations or callings, and that its objective point
is pure culture, has become almost a tradition of a long gone age.”” The more
education was subordinated to mere utility, the greater would be the loss to
society, for the mind would be made subservient to the dictates of physical
well being. The substitution of technical proficiency for understanding under-
mined the moral fiber of society: ‘‘the sympathetic alliance of materialism in
science, and sensualism in philosophy involves subordination of the noblest
capacities of the human intellect to the attainment of mere utility as its end
and ideal.” Already materialism had sapped the moral fiber of a generation
and was destroying the school system. ‘‘Coincident with the rise of an inflated
currency, extravagance in social life, profusion and wanton expenditure in mu-
nicipal government, arises another phase of this inflation, the irrational at-
tempt to accomplish the impossible. . . .”” Only a return to basics could stem
the tide, and in the primary schools and girls high schools Shepherd succeeded
in reducing the number of subjects taught.’

Apparently Shepherd and the advocates of manual training reached a
stalemate. With the absence of concrete evidence one can only speculate on the
extent of Shepherd’s support among the School Commissioners. He was re-
elected to another four year term in 1881, indicating majority approval of his
policies. Subsequent events suggest that majority was a slender one. The
School Commissioners were politicians first, and in the past had rejected any
changes that would entail increased expenditures. They appeared to support
Shepherd more out of a desire to maintain a tight budget than to endorse the
concept of an educated elite. Newell and his followers took their program to
the forum of public opinion.

Believing that the graduates of classical courses were overcrowding the
professions, Newell in ‘“The Beginnings of Industrial Education’’ painted a
dark picture of poverty, widening social gaps and an emerging class system
based on the scorning of labor. He did not argue that academic high schools
were undemocratic, but that manual training was equally democratic, increas-
ing children’s prospects for future success. Arguments supporting academic
education were used to support manual education. The public was informed
that manual training was essential for the good of society. Perley R. Lovejoy,
President of the Maryland State Teachers Association, urged teachers to dis-
cuss the need for change in educational policy. He accused the existing system
of encouraging class consciousness, idleness and disdain for honest labor. By
the end of the 1870s newspapers and professional journals were urging the
schools to prepare future farmers and mechanics as well as teachers, lawyers,
clergymen and doctors. State superintendent Newell disclosed to legislators
that his office received letters and petitions favoring manual training. Parents
and businessmen subjected the Board of School Commissioners to increasing
public pressure. If changes could not be accomplished via the superintendent’s
office they would have to come from the politicians.'®
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Such an appeal to politicians must have struck Shepherd as a stab in the
back. He was having increasing difficulties with the school board over the
issues of tenure and graft. At the same time he noted a decline in the enroll-
ment of the classical program at City College which threatened its existence.
He felt the need to defend the curriculum on the basis of its utility rather than
its conformity to the true ends of education.'® By the beginning of the 1880s
Shepherd had obviously had enough political interference. In a letter to Daniel
C. Gilman discussing a possible position at Columbia he remarked ‘‘My pres-
ent surroundings are becoming very distasteful to me..."" and expressed a
desire to return to pure scholarship.

In his last Report Shepherd delivered a bitter jeremiad on the trend
toward utilitarianism and materialism which not even the universities
resisted. Already present in England and on the Continent, he feared this
trend was irresistible in America where the pressures of growth and develop-
ment were greater. Since the war there had been a popularization and idoliza-
tion of science which led even colleges to subvert the goal of culture to that of
expediency. This trend had to be reversed, he argued, if education was to
return to the ideal of knowledge for its own sake. Emphasis on the classical
languages and literature, and refusal to allow specialization before the comple-
tion of college were the only ways to counteract the movement toward narrow-
ness of mind. The morality and virtue of the nation were linked to the educa-
tional system. Materialism as the goal of education would create a materialis-
tic nation, one in which culture and virtue would be subverted to expediency.
Shepherd argued that for educators to allow the subordination of culture to ex-
pediency would be to deny responsibility for all but the immediate future.?

This was Shepherd’s last public statement on the goals of the school sys-
tem. On September 27, 1882, shortly before the opening of the fall term, he re-
signed over the issue of forced contributions to the Democratic machine. In his
farewell to Baltimore teachers, reported in the American, he traced his at-
tempt to elevate the moral and academic standards of the schools, and his ef-
forts to free the system from individual and factional influence. Shepherd’s
open opposition to political control of the schools, particularly over merit ex-
aminations and tenure, and his outspoken belief that the mission of the schools
was to educate the elite rather than the masses, had aroused enmity. Although
he knew many considered his actions and public statements inexpedient, he
defended them on the grounds of moral principle. Editorializing, the American
called Shepherd’s resignation a sacrifice to the city machine, and noted that
the Board would now elect a superintendent who would not oppose their
wishes.??

The major issues in the end remained teacher tenure and civil service re-
form. But manual training had become the pet project of some Board mem-
bers. A change in their attitude toward the mission of the schools was reflected
in their choice of Shepherd’s successor. Henry A. Wise had been Assistant
Superintendent, in charge of all elementary schools. He was believed to be
amenable to the “growing conviction among all classes that the education of
to-day should be thoroughly practical, preparing those who receive it for the
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varied positions which they may afterwards occupy in the trades or profes-
sions.”’* He would also undoubtedly agree with the majority of the Board. If
Wise did not initially favor manual training, he quickly became a convert.

In his first Report as superintendent in 1882, Wise expressed his commit-
ment to mass education. Seeing the decade as one of productive industry, in-
creasing mechanization and rapid vocational change, he urged training the
mind for a versatile role. Universal education protected both society and prop-
erty, and all means should be used to educate the masses, including manual
training.?¢

On April 23, 1883 Joshua Plaskitt, influential Democratic politican and
long a member of the School Commissioners, introduced a resolution favoring
the founding of a manual training school. He reported that ‘‘all held up their
hands in holy horror.’’? Yet differences were resolved in secret session and on
May 1 members voted to investigate the creation of a secondary school
devoted to manual education.?® With the passage of the resolution, the lines of
support blurred. Were the proponents of manual training simply waiting to
get Shepherd out of the way before acting? Had Newell’s campaign for public
support resulted in pressure on the School Commissioners? Did they favor in-
dustrial education because they believed it would support the existing social
system? Or did they truly believe that they were in the vangard of educational
reform? None of these questions was debated publicly and private records
have vanished. Once the Plaskitt resolution passed the Board not even the in-
quisitive American could discover a dissenting voice.”” Board and superinten-
dent presented a solid front.

During May and June Plaskitt’s committee and members of the super-
intendent’s office visited various technical institutions. Their report to the
School Commissioners was enthusiastic. What impressed them was that most
educators felt manual education was necessary, even though they differed on
the proper methods. The committee affirmed that ‘‘a knowledge of some form
of industrial labor is as necessary as a knowledge of books, and as the state
and city acknowledge their obligation to teach children to read and write they
can not deny their obligation to teach them to work. . . .”” Schools best served
the community by educating the many rather than the few and by making
educational choices as wide as possible. The growing prosperity of Baltimore
created a need for skilled workers which now was filled by foreigners. Ameri-
cans had to reform their attitudes concerning the dignity and social value of
labor and Baltimore could lead this reformation. The proposed school linked
labor theory and practice, though no general trades would be taught. Experi-
mental and voluntary, the new school could invigorate the city’s entire
system.?®

The Board adopted the resolution creating the Baltimore Manual Training
School on June 19, 1883. Now the City Council had to be approached for en-
abling legislation and funds. Less readily convinced of the value of manual
education, they delayed legislation until October, which prevented the opening
of the school in the fall. They also postponed appropriating funds. Meanwhile,
navy commander Richard Grady, newly appointed head of Manual Training
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School, went to St. Louis to observe the manual school at Washington Univer-
sity. The report he presented to the School Commissioners in January 1884
could not be found, but editorial comments indicate the St. Louis school was
the model for that in Baltimore. As in St. Louis heavy emphasis would be
placed on tool work. Opponents of manual education revived charges that Bal-
timoreans would be subsidizing the first step toward a government workshop.
Despite Superintendent Wise’s assurance that the curricula balanced manual
and mental training, the American withdrew its support. The editors feared
the school would ‘“‘educate a boy’s hands to the detriment of his mind. Mere
manual skill without a trained intellect may fit him for good mechanical work,
and for that only.”’” The Day, opposed to all extensions of secondary educa-
tion, urged an improved elementary system with emphasis placed on good citi-
zenship. ** As the debate over the expenditure of tax money continued in the
press, the City Council delayed appropriations. Without funds the school
could not open in January, and in fact the Council did not appropriate money
so contracts could be let until February. Delay may have been necessary, even
wise, but it is probable that the Council was testing the extent of public sup-
port for the manual training school before committing themselves. In January
the machine paper, the Sun, entered the controversy in support of the new
school, printing letters from teachers on the high drop-out rate, and discussing
the accomplishments of private technical institutions.*

Also supporting the new school was Hopkins president Gilman. Although
long a proponent of manual and technical education he remained aloof from the
decade-long debate over manual training in Baltimore. Once the School Com-
missioners approved the concept, however, Gilman took a public stand. The
Hopkins had early initiated a series of public lectures to acquaint the commu-
nity with the University and the latest techniques in science and education.
There was also a weekend institute for Baltimore teachers, eventually ex-
panded into the University’s night school. The institute established close
cooperation between Gilman and school board president John Thomas Morris,
and the two became personal friends. No doubt Gilman was informed of the
progress of the Plaskitt resolutions within the Board. Along with all concerned
citizens, he knew of the Council’s delay in appropriations. Gilman was in a
position to apply additional public pressure to speed the Council’s decision. It
cannot have been coincidence that he invited Calvin Woodward to Baltimore
early in 1884 to give an address on the progress of manual training. This ad-
dress was scheduled for February 4. The day preceeding the City Council
finally approved Manual Training School’s appropriation.

Short speeches by Morris and Gilman introduced Woodward’s address in
crowded Hopkins Hall. Gilman confined his remarks to Baltimore’s need for
skilled artisans. Morris also emphasized the industrial needs of the city, but
noted that students at the new school would be able to make sounder judg-
ments on careers, whether in mechanics or in higher education. This position
was reiterated by Woodward. Graduates of manual schools, where a balance
was created between the study of abstract ideas and the use of tools, would
have ‘‘an increasing interest in manufacturing pursuits, [be] more intelligent
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mechanics, more successful manufacturers, better lawyers, more skilled physi-
cians and more useful citizens.”” Manual training was not succumbing to mere
materialism; it would open the way to success and ‘‘success does not imply
wealth but it does imply competence.”’ Emphasis on competence would elevate
manual education beyond the mere use of tools. It would solve present labor
problems and train more students in more fields, but it would also stimulate
curiosity and inventive genius. All students at St. Louis studied science and
pure mathematics, and their introduction into the manufacture and use of
tools allowed them to apply what they learned. No assumption was made on
the future of any student so that his choices would be as wide as possible. This
was the true meaning of liberal education, the combination of the abstract and
the practical to stimulate the intellectual curiosity of the pupil.*

Designed to accommodate 25 boys in a three year program, the Manual
Training School in Baltimore proved to be a successful and popular experi-
ment. Superintendent Wise in his 1884 Report predicted an increase in school
enrollment and a spur to Baltimore’s industrial growth resulting from the
school. He hoped also that it would inspire the endowment of a polytechnic col-
lege like M.I.T. to add to the educational advantages of Baltimore.** Actually,
graduates of the Manual Training School often went to the Naval Academy at
Annapolis, and the navy supplied the school with principals and faculty mem-
bers. Graduates of the institution also studied at the Hopkins. As a prepara-
tion for higher education as well as for a career the institution proved its
worth.*

By the end of 1887 Manual Training School became the model for other
schools in public systems throughout the country. It received enthusiastic
support from the press and from its students, and there was no doubt that it
stood in the vanguard of the movement. In Baltimore the Baltimore & Ohio
Railroad and the Merchant Tailor’s Association opened specialized trade
schools, and the Industrial Education Association promoted others. The
mayor himself placed the future of the city in the hands of manual education.
In such an atmosphere the experiment of 1884 expanded in scope and con-
tent.

Educators like Woodward and Walker urged the introduction of manual
training into the lowest grades. They believed that manual dexterity would aid
the students’ physical growth and quicken their mental ability to grasp
abstract ideas. In Baltimore Superintendent Wise supported expanded
manual training but counselled caution. His criteria for expansion of courses
were student enthusiasm and social usefulness. Experiments introducing sew-
ing first in high schools and later in grade schools set a precedent. ‘“Though
this kind of instruction may not have been within the original scope of our
system of education, yet there is no reason why it should not be included if it
can be made useful to the children.”*

Like the sewing experiment, manual training was first expanded in the
secondary schools. Superintendent Wise proposed a high school for girls who
did not intend to teach. It would emphasize cooking and domestic economy.
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This proposal received Board support, but instead of a separate school, East-
ern Female High School became the site of a manual workshop. In 1888 Board
member John Foley introduced a resolution extending manual education into
the primary grades. He received support from John T. Ford, new principal of
the Manual Training School. The curricula included elementary tool use, con-
struction with paper and sticks, and domestic economy. The program was
designed to promote attendance and enthusiasm as well as discipline. As part
of the expanded curricula, fifth graders learned elementary carpentry. As the
decade of the 1880s ended the black community received support for their
plans for a Colored Manual Training School.®

State-wide, the system of manual training was promoted by Baltimore’s
State Senator John B. Wentz, former school board member, and State Super-
intendent Newell. Wentz introduced a bill creating a state commission to
study manual education. Reactions to the proposal from educators and legisla-
tors were mixed. Some argued since ‘‘you can not make a carpenter or a black-
smith out of a boy in the public schools. . .it can not be done thoroughly, it
should not be done at all. . . .”’*®* A measure of the success of the movement,
however, was evidenced at the Maryland State Teachers Association meeting
in 1888. Most of the participants, whether opposed to the extension of manual
training or not, admitted the success of the Baltimore experiment. The issue
was not whether the public schools should teach industrial arts but could a
county system afford to financially. Superintendents counselled caution, feel-
ing that manual education would be of limited value outside major cities. Most
agreed, however, that if made broadly educational, and not viewed as an in-
stant cure for all the problems of the schools, manual training was indeed bene-
ficial. At the superintendents’ meeting in 1889, for example, Henry A. Wise
discussed not the need for manual education, but the exact definition of its
scope.*’

Baltimoreans accepted this new approach to education as part of the prog-
ress of the post-war period. Manual training enabled the individual to better
cope with industrialism and at the same time opened secondary education to
those who did not desire to pursue the classics. By offering a greater variety of
courses related to contemporary experience the schools met the needs of mass
education. Senator Wentz felt the new education ‘‘set the artisan upon the
throne.”’#

The Manual Training School, however, did not serve to educate the
masses. Graduating classes remained small, and in 1894 its name was changed
to Baltimore Polytechnic Institute, reflecting its role as a college preparatory
school for engineers. Its rival, City College, retained its classical curricula, but
added courses in business and higher mathematics. Both schools reflected the
desires of the urban middle class. Both provided a liberal education for the pro-
fessional men of the future. Poly’s increased popularity simply reflected the
belief of the late nineteenth century that the future lay with scientists and en-
gineers. A new path of upward mobility was created, but the goal of mass edu-
cation expressed by Alexander Newell in 1877 was not reached. The Manual
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Training School did not create a large pool of skilled labor, nor did it appear to
effect the growth of unions. Rather, it reflected a change in educational values
in keeping with an increasingly urbanized, industrialized Baltimore.
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would prevent class struggle and revolution. Few, if any, of those who supported manual
training appear to have been sympathetic to unionism, and they positively rejected
socialism.

“Industrial Schools,”” M.S..J., November, 1877, pp. 114ff.

Report, 1878, p. 39; Report, 1879, p. 30; ‘Modern Education, Its Dangers and Its Require-
ments,” M.S..J., October, 1878.

“‘Beginnings of Industrial Education,” M.S.J., September, 1879, pp. 1ff. See also ‘‘Needed
Reforms,” by S. S. Thompson, M.S.J, July, 1879, p. 369. Lovejoy's talk, ‘‘Industrial
Education,” is recorded in M.S.J., October, 1879, pp. 1ff. See also Arnual Report of the
State Board of Education, 1879, pp. liv, xxx.

Report, 1880. Not only did the superintendent comment on City, its principal, William
Elliott, Jr., noted that the graduates of City were among the leading professionals in Balti-
more and that the school was a positive power for good in the city.

Henry E. Shepherd to Daniel C. Gilman, September 1, 1881, Gilman Papers.

Report, 1881, pp. 33-47.

Baltimore American, September 20, 27, 1882.

Baltimore Day, October 11, 1882. Wise, nephew of Governor Henry A. Wise of Virginia, had
served as assistant superintendent from 1876. He was elected by one vote during a secret
session of the Board. Baltimore Sun, October 4, 1882,

Report, 1882, pp. 37-42.

Plaskitt Collection, MS 663, vol. I, p. 4, Maryland Historical Society (hereinafter referred to
as Plaskitt Collection). There are two volumes of newspaper clippings related to the Balti-
more schools from 1887-1889. Most lack name of paper and date.

Board of School Commissioners, Minutes, May 1, 1883.

The Baltimore American on May 30, 1883 indicated a division of the Board but did not elab-
orate. By the next meeting, June 19, all problems had been resolved. The May 30th issue did
not indicate who was in the opposition or why.

Board of School Commissioners, Minutes, June 19, 1883. The resolution also urged an ex-
pansion of girls manual training.

Baltimore American, January 14, 1884. The editors suggested that since most manual train-
ing schools were supported by wealthy patrons, supporters should turn to the leading
citizens of Baltimore rather than the taxpayer.

Baltimore Day, January 21, 1884.

Baltimore Sun, January 14, 15, 1884. The Sun particularly praised the Maryland Institute
for the Mechanic Arts. Alexander M. Newell was a member of its Board, and several of its
faculty were organizers, along with members of the Hopkins faculty, of the Industrial
Education Association of Baltimore.

For Gilman'’s position on manual training see ‘‘Manual Training As a Part of a Liberal Edu-
cation,” undated galley proof, Gilman Papers.

The Woodward address was reported verbatum in the Baltimore Sun, February 5, 1884.
Report, 1884, p. 58.

Baltimore Evening Sun, August 28, 1950; Baltimore Sunday Sun, March 28, 1954 in Ver-
tical File, Enoch Pratt Free Library. Clipping titled “‘Educating the Hands,’’ Plaskitt Col-
lection, I, p. 3, lists the 25 graduates of 1887 and their positions: 1 school teacher, 4
engineers, 1 carpenter, 2 pattern makers, 1 draughtsman, 1 farmer, 1 architect, 6
machinists, 1 student at the Hopkins, 3 in business, 1 car builder. The Baltimore Sun (un-
dated clipping, loc cit.) noted ““It is furnishing young men who have the confidence of the
community. The boys who have left this school have gone out into various positions, mostly
mechanical, and are doing very satisfactory work.” A check of the 1888 graduating class
against the 1890 and 1900 Baltimore City Directories reveals most graduates in business or
the professions, albeit connected with engineering. Of 23 graduates, 17 appeared in the 1890
Directory: 1 artist, 1 cigarmaker, 4 teachers, 3 machinists, 5 clerks, 1 piano maker, 1
patternmaker, 1 draftsman. Only 13 appear in 1900, and most had advanced: 2 teachers, 2
manufacturers, 1 manager, 1 bookkeeper, 1 engineer. The remaining 6 were in the same field
as in 1890.

Plaskitt Collection, 1.

Report, 1883, p. xxx.

The resolution on creating a manual training school for girls was adopted by the Board of
School Commissioners in 1885, Minutes, January 6, 1885, and received editorial support
from the Baltimore Sun at the time and again in June, 1888 (see Plaskitt Collection, I). The



252

39.
40.

41.

MARYLAND HisToricAL MAGAZINE

Foley resolution can be found in the Plaskitt Collection, I, and John T. Ford's comments on
it in Report, 1888, and in a clipping from the News, Plaskitt Collection, I, p. 2. Clippings on
the Colored Manual Training School are dated November 27, December 11, 1888, loc cit.
Baltimore American, July 18, 1888,

The Baltimore American on July 18, 1888, and the Baltimnore Sun on July 17, 1888 report
on the debates of the Maryland State Teachers Association. The report on the March, 1889
superintendents meeting is contained in clippings in the Plaskitt Collection, I.

Senator John B. Wentz at the commencement of Manual Training School June 25, 1888,
Plaskitt Collection, I.



Historical Aspects of Lake Roland

JOHN W. McGRAIN

AT ONE TIME LAKE ROLAND WAS KNOWN As SWANN LAKE 1N HONOR oF MAYOR
Thomas Swann who began the construction of a water supply dam at the
Relay House on the Northern Central Railroad.! The name Roland stems from
Roland Run, a stream mentioned as long ago as 1694, when Roland or Row-
land Thornberry had a tract surveyed called ‘““Selsed.’’?

In building the artificial lake to serve as Baltimore’s main reservoir, the
Mayor and City Council had to acquire the land and buildings of two concerns,
the Bellona Gunpowder Mill and a textile works called the Eagle Factory.

Baltimore’s population depended on a privately-owned water company
from 1804 until 1854, when the city bought the entire holdings of the Balti-
more Water Company.® The utility company had begun with dams on Jones
Falls, in the vicinity of what became Preston Street, at a time when the town
had scarcely grown out as far as Centre Street. As demand for water increased,
the company moved farther upstream and purchased a number of existing
mills to gain control of the water rights that came with the properties. Some of
the mills continued to grind grain for the water company’s benefit or they were
leased to tenant operators. The Mount Royal Mill dam became a reservoir as
did the Rock Mill dam and pool just downstream of Mount Vernon Mills. In
April 1853, the private company acquired land near the present Lake Roland
from the Bellona Gunpowder Company of Maryland, possibly hoping to beat
the city to the next site available for development. The city council had been
deliberating the municipalization of the water system for some time.*

Louis F. Gorr reported that the city fathers chose to depend on Jones Falls
as a water source against the advice of such prominent engineers as Montgom-
ery C. Meigs and Myndert Van Schaick, who were building water systems in-
corporating stone aqueducts for Washington, D.C., and New York City, re-
spectively. Other local engineers urged the city to bypass Jones Falls and to
dam either the Patapsco or Gunpowder Falls. But as things turned out, the
city took the easiest solution, purchased the private water company, and went
ahead with the Lake Roland plan. The city hired James Slade of Hartford, Con-
necticut, who made one of the proposals and who believed in the project.®

Gorr outlined the history of Baltimore’'s search for a pure and copious
water supply and noted that both the private water company and the city gov-
ernment repeatedly settled for stop-gap measures and short-term solutions un-
til they finally resolved to use the Great Gunpowder Falls as the chief re-
source. The system built on Lake Roland was a vast improvement over a net-

Mr. McGrain is a member of the Baltimore County Landmarks Preservation Commission.
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Ficure 1.
Lake Roland Dam, June 30, 1907.

—Barker Collection, Enoch Pratt Free Library

work based on old Jones Falls mill ponds, but was by no means a long-range
answer to the problems that plagued a city growing at a phenomenal rate.

Engineer Slade had a detailed plan ready to implement, whereas the propo-
nents of the Gunpowder plan had only a map proposing an ‘‘air-line tunnel”
that would run from Cromwell Bridge Road to Herring Run. This map was
published in the American of September 25, 1854, Acting under a council ordi-
nance of July 29 of that year, the city acquired a deed for the assets of the
Water Company on October 10. Baltimore was no longer able to consider alter-
natives.

Actual construction began in 1858, and Gorr describes the project as
based on seven components: Lake Roland; Lake Roland Dam; the conduit from
Lake Roland to Hampden Reservoir; Hampden Reservoir; the pipe line from
Hampden to Mount Royal Reservoir; Mount Royal Reservoir; and the network
of distribution mains from each reservoir.®

The dam was to have been built of earth and wooden cribs, but the decision
was made for an “‘indestructible’’ dam, and the fates have now spared that
boastful structure for some 120 years. The core of the dam was built of heavy
rubble work, ground up from ‘‘the rough gigantic stone of the neighboring hill-
sides.” The outer facing was of roughly cut stone or rock ashlar work. A clear
waterway 125 feet wide provided the overflow at the top of the dam. Wing
walls on each side rose 6 feet above the crest and the wings were entirely
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FiGcure 2.
Valve House of 1861 at Cross Keys on Falls Road,
part of the original Lake Roland system (1978 photo).

enclosed in heavy earth embankments. The height of the dam was 40 feet from
base to crest, and 46 feet to the tops of the wing walls. The rear wall of the dam
was perpendicular, and the spillway surfaces were slanted. From the rear of
the dam to the toe of its base, the stone mass was 60 feet thick. Below the crest
of the dam were the gate chambers and waste flume; the chambers were lined
with fine masonry of Texas limestone. At overflow conditions, the water sur-
face stood 225 feet above mean tide at Baltimore.’

The flow control system was described in 1862 by engineer Charles P.
Manning:

The gate chambers consist of two distinct apartments, the floors of which are
at the respective heights of 201 and 210 feet above tide—or respectively 24
and 15 feet below the crest of the dam, and the usual surface of the lake. The
lower chamber is provided with gates which regulate the discharge of water
through the waste flume, and by means of which the lake can be drained to the
bottom. The higher chamber is provided with gates by which the flow of water
into the conduit is regulated; and another gate for occasional use, when a con-
nection between the waste and conduit chambers may be needed. The gate
chambers are enclosed by a substantial stone house, upon the floor of which
are placed the screw stands of the several gates. All the masonry of the dam
was carefully laid in full beds of fresh hydraulic cement mortar, and where
necessary, thoroughly grouted with the same material.?
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The firm of J. B. & T. F. Connolly built the stone gate house and A. & W. Den-
mead and Sons ‘‘executed the iron work, and fitted up the gates of the several
gate chambers, and cast the curved and branch pipes of the pipe line.”” The
Denmead company operated the famous Monumental Iron Works at the cor-
ner of Monument Street and Guilford Avenue, where they had been making
locomotives and boilers since 1847, The Connolly company advertised in direc-
tories of the period as marble cutters, ‘“‘opposite the jail,”” on East Madison
Street. The gate house was completed in October, 1861, three months after the
water began to spill over the crest.®

In developing the system, some 50 acres of land were excavated and
‘““grubbed”’ (i.e., cleared of stumps) to enlarge the natural capacity of the ravine
and headwaters to 500 million gallons with a surface area variously measured
at 70 and 116 acres. The difficulties of building turned out to be greater than
anticipated in the 1853 proposal:

Slade had said in 1853 that with only slight excavation, the lake could be well
suited as a storage reservoir. The surrounding land, he wrote, had little value
for cultivation, so natural run-off would supply the lake with a never ending
supply of fresh water. There is nothing to suggest that Slade considered the
problem of siltation and soil erosions, factors which later condemned the
lake.'®

As might be expected, the project, with its vastly improved dam and ex-
cavated lake bottom, cost more than anticipated, but the city got a better
product for its investment.

Colonel J. Thomas Scharf told essentially the same story—which he prob-
ably lifted from a water department history of 1863—but he also named a
number of local personalities involved in the project:

Baltimore City. . .in 1857. . .purchased the water rights to the head of
the lake...with the land required for the lake, dam, and conduit, for
$289,000. . .survey made during the summer and autumn of 1857 by Mr.
Wampler, under the general direction of Mr. Slade.

.. .construction began in 1858 under the supervision of Charles P. Man-
ning, by the erection of a dam across Jones’ Falls, at a narrow place near the
Northern Central Railroad Station, eight miles from the city, and the excava-
tion of a natural basin above it. The dam and lake were both so far completed
as to be available for use in 1860, and entirely completed in 1861, and the con-
duit extending from the gate chamber of the dam to Hampden reservoir was
finished by the 1st of January, 1860, twenty months from the time of its com-
mencement. The contractors of the lake were Messrs. Crowley, Hoblitzell &
Co.; of the dam, Messrs. Hoblitzell, Crowley & Co. . . . The cost of the lake was
$112,752.55; of the dam, $152,190.65.

.. .The process of delivering and laying the pipes was performed by

mechanics and laborers employed by the day. . . . Part of the western sector
of the city was supplied from the new source as early as the 22d of February,
1861.%!

The system was supplying the whole city with water by 1862, but hardly
two years later, it was generally recognized that the supply was not only insuf-
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ficient but also contaminated. Gorr’s study noted that erosion was already at
work:

The slopes around Lake Roland drained into it. Siltation was a problem
acknowledged but not contended with. Water officials felt that waste materi-
als and silt could settle to the bottom of the lake. Remaining solids could set-
tle in the reservoirs, each of which was fitted with an endless belt of copper
mesh at the effluents. The mesh, however, was only an eighth of an inch,
hardly adequate to capture small particles. Throughout the 1860’s typhoid
outbreaks occurred with some regularity, and many citizens who could afford
to do so dug their own private wells. . . .1

By 1865, the City was planning to tap the Gunpowder, but a few more
stop-gap measures related to Lake Roland were yet to come, including a new
Rogers Reservoir at Druid Hill Park, the new earth-fill dam that forms Druid
Lake, and a temporary pumping system at Meredith’s Ford.

Meredith’s Ford was the old crossing place of Dulaney Valley Turnpike,
some 4,400 feet downstream of the three-span Matthews Bridge that was
removed in April 1978. An 1873 lithograph by A. Hoen and Company shows
the stone building put up as the ‘“Gunpowder Temporary Supply’’ at the old
ford, and water supply reports of the time indicate that it was a new building
rather than an adaptation of Fitzhugh'’s Distillery or any of <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>